FILE COPY



THE COMPANIES ACT 1985

Company No. 3877777

The Registrar of Companies for England and Wales hereby certifies that the

COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION,

Established as a statutory corporation (not having a share capital) by the Overseas Resources Development Act 1948 on 11th February, 1948 as the Colonial Development Corporation, the name of which was changed to the Commonwealth Development Corporation by the Commonwealth Development Act 1963, and continued under the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978 (as amended): (a) remains incorporated; (b) has memorandum and articles of association registered at 2.00pm on this day under the Companies Act 1985; and (c) is a public company limited by shares. The name of the Corporation on and after registration is, by virtue of section 5 (3) of Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999, CDC GROUP PLC.

Given at Companies House, Cardiff, the 8th day of December 1999

N03877777X

A F. FLETCHER

For the Registrar of Companies





10

Please complete in typescript, or in bold black capitals.

CHFP055

Notes on completion appear on final page

3877777

registered office

First directors and secretary and intended situation of

Company Name in full

CDC Group plc

Duamagad variatovad affica			
Proposed registered office	One Bessborough Gardens		
PO Box numbers only, are not acceptable)			
Post town	London	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
County / Region		Postcode	SW1V 2JQ
If the memorandum is delivered by an agent for the subscriber(s) of the memorandum mark the box opposite and give the agent's name and address.			
Agent's Name			
Address			
Post town			
County / Region		Postcode	
Model to the control of the control	42		

Number of continuation sheets attached

Please give the name, address, telephone number, and if available, a DX number and Exchange, for the person Companies House should contact if there is any query P. Lamb

One Bessborough Gardens London SW1V 2JQ

Tel: 0171 963 3852



08/12/99

When you have completed and signed the form please send it to the Registrar of Companies at

Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ DX 33050 Cardiff for companies registered in England and Wales or

Companies House, 37 Castle Terrace, Edinburgh, EH1 2EB for companies registered in Scotland

DX 235 Edinburgh

COMPANIES HOUSE

Company Sec	cretary (see notes 1-5)						
	Company name						
	Name * Style / Title		* Honours etc				
* Voluntary details.	Forename(s)						
	Surname						
	Previous Forename(s)						
	Previous Surname(s)						
	Address						
Usual residenti							
For a corporation, registered or prince	given the ciple office						
address.	Post town						
	County / Region		Destands				
	Country		Postcode				
	Country	Lonsent to act as secretary of	the company named on page 1				
	- Consent Signature	1 doliselli to dol do decretary of	Date				
Directors	(see notes 1-5)						
Please list directors in		_					
	Name * Style / Title	Dr	* Honours etc				
	Forename(s)	Alan Raymond					
	Surname	Gillespie					
	Previous Forename(s)						
	Previous Surname(s)						
	Address	Patchan					
Usual residenti	al address	Fairoak Lane					
For a corporation, registered or prince address.							
addi 033.	Post town	Oxshott					
	County / Region	Surrey	Postcode KT22 0TW				
	Country	England					
		Day Month Year					
	Date of birth	3 1 0 7 1 9 5 0	Nationality British				
	Business occupation	Investment Banker					
	Other directorships	(See continuation sheet).					
		I consent to act as director of the	he company named on page 1				
	Consent Signature	Ang >	Date 20/11/99.				

Company Name in full | CDC Group plc

Current directorships for Dr Alan Raymond Gillespie

Elan Corporation PLC

Juvenile Diabetes Foundation (UK) Limited (The)

Lambourne Drive Management Company Limited

University Challenge Fund (N.I.)

Past directorships for Dr Alan Raymond Gillespie

Goldman Sachs International

Goldman Sachs Property Management

Inter Publishing Services (IPS) Limited

The Wisley Golf Club PLC

Company Secretary (see notes 1-5)	
Company na	me
Name * Style /	itle * Honours etc
* Voluntary details. Forenam	e(s)
Surna	me
Previous Forenam	e(s)
Previous Surnam	p(s)
Address	
Usual residential address	
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office address.	
Post t	wn
County / Re	ion Postcode
Cou	ntry
	I consent to act as secretary of the company named on page 1
Directors (see notes 1-5)	re Date
DIFECTORS (see notes 1-5) Please list directors in alphabetical order	
Name * Style /	itle Ms * Honours etc
Forenam	e(s) Jayne Doreen
Surn	me Almond
Previous Forenam	e(s)
Previous Surnam	e(s)
Address Usual residential address	26 Walpole Street
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office address.	
Post t	London
County / Re	ion Postcode SW3 4QS
Cou	ntry England
	Day Month Year
Date of	irth 0 3 1 1 1 9 5 7 Nationality British
Business occupa	ion Banker
Other directors	ips (See continuation sheet).
Consent Signat	I consent to act as director of the company named on page 1
Consent digital	Date 22.11.99

Company Name in full	CDC Group pic	
Current directorships for Me	s Jayne Doreen Almond	
Ascot PLC		
Thesorter Com PLC	:	
Past directorships for Ms Ja	ayne Doreen Almond	
Daystrong Limited		
L.E.K. Consulting L	.imited	
		! !
		,
:		

Company Se	crotary (s	ee notes 1 5)										/
	c	Company name		<u></u>							/	
	Name	* Style / Title						' Honours	etc			
* Voluntary details.		Forename(s)			•							
		Surname										==
	Previou	s Forename(s)									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Previo	us Surname(s)								•••		
	Address											
Usual resident												
For a corporation registered or prin									•			
address.		Post town								-		=+
		County / Region						Pos	tcode			=
		Country								! 		==
		·	I conse	nt to ac	t as se	cretary	of the	company	name	d on	page 1	
	Conser	nt Signature-				<u>·</u>			Date-	[
Directors	(see notes 1-5)	•						J		1		
Please list directors	in alphabetical o	rder * Style / Title	The Rt	Hon	The F:	arl		* Honours	etc	СВЕ	<u> </u>	
	ivanic	Otyle / Title		11011.	1110 =	411						
		Forename(s)	Simon	Dallas	•							
		Surname	Cairns	i 						_		
	Previou	ıs Forename(s)										
	Previo	ous Surname(s)							****			
	Address		39 Aru	ndel G	ardon							
Usual resident			307.114									
For a corporation registered or prin	, given the											
address.		Daattarre	Londo						•			
	c	Post town County / Region	Londo				<u> </u>	Pos	tcode	\8/4·	1 2LW	==
		Country	England						code	441	I ZLVV	
		Country	Day	Month		Year						
		Date of birth	2 , 7	0 , 5	1		9 Na	itionality	Britis	h		
	Busine	ss occupation	Banker							=		
				(See continuation sheet).								
			I conse	ent to ac	ct as di	rector o	of the o	company i	named	on p	age 1	
	Conse	nt Signature		Car	ې ش				Da	te	22.11-49	
								_				

Company Name in full CDC Group plc

Current directorships for The Rt. Hon. The Earl Simon Dallas Cairns

Allied Zurich Holdings Limited

Allied Zurich p.l.c.

MACA (The Mental Aftercare Association)

Overseas Development Institute

Voluntary Service Overseas

Past directorships for The Rt. Hon. The Earl Simon Dallas Cairns

B.A.T. Industries P.L.C.

B.A.T. Reconstructions Limited

Potter Warburg U.K. Ltd

S.G. Warburg & Co Limited

S.G. Warburg & Company PLC

S.G. Warburg Group Asset Management Holdings Ltd

S.G. Warburg Group PLC

S.G. Warburg Overseas Ltd

Company Seci	otary (see notes 1-5)						
	Company name						
ı	Name * Style / Title		* Honours etc				
* Voluntary details.	Forename(s)						
	Surname						
	Previous Forename(s)						
	Previous Surname(s)						
,	Address						
Usual residentia							
For a corporation, gregistered or princi	given the ple office						
address.	Post town						
	County / Region		Postcode				
	Country						
		I consent to act as secretary	of the company name	ed on page 1			
	Consont Signature						
Directors (s	ee notes 1-5)						
	Name * Style / Title	Mr	* Honours etc	CBE			
	Forename(s)	Pendarell Hugh					
	Surname	Kent					
	Previous Forename(s)						
	Previous Surname(s)						
	r revious ourname(s)						
	Address	62 East Sheen Avenue					
Usual residentia For a corporation, gregistered or princip	given the						
address.	Post town	London					
	County / Region		Postcode	SW14 8AU			
	Country	England					
		Day Month Year					
	Date of birth	1 8 0 8 1 9 3	7 Nationality Briti	sh			
	Business occupation	Retired					
	Other directorships	(See continuation sheet).					
		I consent to act as director	of the company name	d on page 1			
	Consent Signature	P.H. Kenst	D	ate 21.11.99			

Company Name	e in	full
--------------	------	------

CDC Group plc

Current directorships for Mr Pendarell Hugh Kent

British Rail Board (sSRA)

Carl Flesch Competition Company Limited

City Arts Productions Limited (The)

City Arts Trust Limited (The)

National Westminster Bank Public Limited Company

Past directorships for Mr Pendarell Hugh Kent

Bank of England

City Arts Productions (Hire) Limited (The)

CRESTco Limited

Houblon Holdings Ltd

The Private Finance Panel Limited

Company Secretary (see notes 1-5)	
	Company name	
Name	* Style / Title	* Honours etc
* Voluntary details.	Forename(s)	
	Surname	
Previo	us Forename(s)	
Previ	ous Surname(s)	
Address	Y	
Usual residential address		
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office		
address.	5	
	Post town	
	County / Region	Postcode
	Country	
		I consent to act as secretary of the company named on page 1
Dimantana	n t Sign ature- 	Date
Please list directors in alphabetical		
Name	* Style / Title	Professor * Honours etc
	Forename(s)	Jonathan Graham
	Surname	Kydd
Previo	us Forename(s)	
	ous Surname(s)	
	(-,	
Address		Broadstone Cottage
Usual residential address For a corporation, given the registered or principle office address.		Westwell
audiess.	Post town	Ashford
	County / Region	Kent Postcode TN25 4LQ
	Country	England
		Day Month Year
	Date of birth	1 4 0 4 1 9 5 1 Nationality British
Busin	ess occupation	Professor of Agricultural Development Economics
Othe	er directorships	(See continuation sheet).
Conse	ent Signature	I consent to act as director of the company named on page 1 Date 7-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-

Company Name in full	CDC Group plc
Past directorships for Profe	ssor Jonathan Graham Kydd
	International Limited
Natural Noodarded	

Company Secretary	(see notes 1-5)		*******************					
	Company name			<u> </u>				
Name	* Style / Title			·····		* Honours	etc	
* Voluntary details.	Forename(s)					<u> </u>		
	Surname	:						
Prev	ious Forename(s)	\						
Pre	vious Surname(s)		· ·					
Address	:			/				
Usual residential addres	ss							
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office				 -				
address.	Post town				- 			
	County / Region				-	Pos	tcode	
	Country							
		I consent	to act a	s secreta	ary of	the company	name	d on page 1
	ent Signature						Date	
Directors (see notes of Please list directors in alphabetic								
Name	* Style / Title	Mr	· • · · ·			* Honours	etc	
	Forename(s)	Karl Rus	sell					
	Surname	Seal						
Prev	rious Forename(s)			 				
Pre	vious Surname(s)							
Address		The Mou						
Usual residential addres	s	Cliff Roa	ıd		·-·		=	
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office address.								17 May 1 May
addross.	Post town	Salcomb	e					
	County / Region	Devon				Pos	tcode	TQ8 8LE
	Country	England						
		Day N	Month	Year				
	Date of birth	1 4 (0 4	1 9 4	2	Nationality	Britis	h
Busi	iness occupation	Retired						
Ot	her directorships	(see atta	ched)					
		I consent	to act a	s directo	or of th	ne company i	named	on page 1
Cons	sent Signature	KI		00	Q		Da	te 21.11.99

Con	nnanv	Name	in	full
OUL	I PAIIY	Hamic	,,,,	IUII

CDC Group plc

Current directorships for Mr Karl Russell Seal

Blue Circle Industries Public Limited Company

Past directorships for Mr Karl Russell Seal

BP AMOCO P.L.C.

BP Car Finance Limited

BP Exploration Company Limited

BP Oil International Limited

BP Pension Trustees Limited

Ropemaker Properties Limited

Company Secretary	y (see notes 1-5)							
	Company name	_						
Name	* Style / Title	Mr		· ·	*	* Honours etc		
* Voluntary details.	Forename(s)	Peter Gra	ham		-		<u> </u>	
	Surname	Howell					-	
Pro	evious Forename(s)							
P	revious Surname(s)			-				
Addre	ss	76 Kings	Road					
Usual residential addi For a corporation, given the registered or principle offithe address.	he	Wimbledo	on					
	Post town	London		·	u			
	County / Region					Postco	de SW	/19 8QW
	Country	England						
Divoctors	nsent Signature	I consent t		secretar JZww	$-\Delta$	company na	amed on I te	21-11-99
Please list directors in alphabe							······································	
Name	* Style / Title] ,	* Honours et	c	
	Forename(s)							
	Surname							
Pr	revious Forename(s)			_ .				
P	Previous Surname(s)							
Addre	988				/			
Usual residential addr	ress			-/-			 _	
For a corporation, given the registered or principle office address.								
	Post town							
	County / Region					Postco	ode	
	Country							
		Day M	onth	Year				
	Date of birth				Na	itionality		
Bú	usiness occupation							
	Other directorships							
		I consent	to act as	director	of the o	company nar	med on	page 1
Co	nsent Signature						Date	

ORDER

The Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (Allotment of Shares, etc.) Order 1999

Made 6 December 1999

The Secretary of State, having consulted the Corporation in accordance with section 1(4), and having obtained the consent of the Treasury in accordance with section 22(1)(a), of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (a) and in exercise of the powers conferred on her by section 1(3) and (5) of that Act, hereby makes the following Order:

Citation

1. This Order may be cited as the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (Allotment of Shares, etc.) Order 1999.

Accounting Reference Date

2. After registration, the Corporation shall have an accounting reference date of 31st December.

- Allotment of shares

- 3. On registration, the Corporation's shares shall be allotted as follows-
 - (a) 99,999,999 shares having a nominal value of 10 pence each shall be allotted to the Secretary of State for International Development;
 - (b) one share having a nominal value of 10 pence shall be allotted to the Solicitor for the affairs of Her Majesty's Treasury; and
 - (c) one special rights redeemable preference share having a nominal value of £1 shall be allotted to the Secretary of State for International Development.

Secretary of State for International Development

6 December 1999



Company number 3877777



THE COMPANIES ACT 1985

A PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION

OF

CDC GROUP PLC

- 1. The company's name is "CDC Group plc". It is referred to as CDC in the rest of this memorandum.
- 2. CDC is a public company.
- 3. CDC's registered office is in England and Wales.
- 4. CDC's objects are:
 - (1) to carry on the business of a company investing its assets principally in debts and securities of entities operating, or expected to operate, in developing economies;
 - (2) to implement policies designed, in the opinion of CDC's directors, to maximise the creation and long-term growth of viable businesses in developing countries, especially poorer countries, achieve attractive returns for shareholders and implement social, environmental and ethical best practice in the conduct of CDC's and its subsidiary undertakings' business;
 - (3) to acquire and hold, by way of investment, shares, debentures, warrants, options, securities, mortgages, annuities and investments and instruments of every kind (including, without limitation, contracts for differences and contracts for futures and whether issued or entered into by the government of any country or territory, any public authority, any international organisation or any other person) and from time to time to vary any such investments;
 - (4) to acquire any of the items referred to in the preceding sub-clause by original subscription, syndicate participation, tender, purchase, exchange or otherwise, and whether or not fully paid up, and to subscribe for the same, either conditionally or otherwise, and to guarantee its subscription and to exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incidental to ownership and to act as managers of any syndicate;
 - (5) to lend money (with interest) secured on any land, buildings, stocks, shares, securities and merchandise, and generally to lend and advance money to any persons



5/pm x2 meda 12000000 076737 01657 or companies without security, or upon such securities and terms, and subject to such conditions as may seem appropriate;

- (6) to act as financial advisers and to facilitate and encourage the creation, issue or conversion of and to offer to the public any investment or other instrument, and to act as trustees in connection with any such investments and instruments and to establish or to promote or to concur in establishing or promoting any company, association, undertaking or public or private body, wherever located, the promotion of which shall be considered desirable;
- (7) to acquire and hold any kind of interest in, or provide any form of capital for, any enterprise, concern or person, to carry on business as a holding company, and, generally and in addition, to carry out, or through subsidiaries or otherwise be interested or participate in, all kinds of financial, commercial, transport, industrial, technological and other transactions and activities;
- (8) to acquire, dispose of, deal in and enter into every other kind of transaction in relation to land, buildings, plant, machinery, equipment, vehicles, ships, rigs, aircraft, merchandise, goods and other assets;
- (9) to receive money on deposit or otherwise, to provide or arrange advances or any other form of credit or finance, to enter into or arrange transactions of every kind in relation to foreign exchange, bullion, commodities, futures, options and similar instruments and to engage in all forms of arbitrage;
- (10) to act as trustee, personal representative, director or agent of any kind and for any purposes, and to establish, operate or otherwise act in relation to any unit trust, investment trust or collective investment scheme;
- (11) to provide management, administrative, advisory, professional and technical services of any kind and in any manner;
- (12) to undertake any kind of scientific or technical research and development and acquire, develop, register, protect and renew patents, trade-marks, copyrights, designs, inventions, processes and intellectual, technical and similar rights and all forms of know-how;
- (13) to undertake any business or transaction which the directors consider can be profitably or advantageously undertaken in conjunction or concurrently with any other business or transaction being or proposed to be undertaken by CDC, and to turn to account any of CDC's assets in any manner which the directors consider appropriate;
- (14) to enter into all forms of distributorship, franchise, licensing and agency transactions;
- (15) to enter into any partnership, joint venture, co-operation and similar transactions, to carry out any form of take-over, acquisition, merger, amalgamation, demerger or reorganisation, to acquire or assume all or any part of the undertaking, assets, liabilities and obligations of any person, and to dispose of all or any part of the undertaking, assets, liabilities and obligations of CDC;
- (16) to borrow or raise money by any method and to obtain any form of credit or finance;

- (17) to secure the payment of any moneys, the discharge of any liabilities and the observance or performance of any kind of obligations by CDC by any charge over the whole or any part of the undertaking and assets of CDC;
- (18) to guarantee in any manner, or to enter into any kind of indemnity or other arrangement in relation to, the discharge of any liabilities or the observance or performance of any kind of obligations of any person and to secure any such guarantee, indemnity or arrangement or the discharge of any liabilities or the observance or performance of any such obligations by any charge over the whole or any part of the undertaking or assets of CDC;
- (19) to give any financial assistance that may lawfully be given in connection with the acquisition of shares in CDC or any other company;
- (20) to enter into all forms of indemnity in relation to claims, losses and contingencies of every kind and, for that or any similar purpose, to create any charge, over the whole or any part of the undertaking and assets of CDC;
- (21) to make, draw, accept, issue, execute, indorse, avalise, negotiate and deal with instruments and securities of every kind, whether or not negotiable or transferable;
- (22) to employ, accept on secondment, retain and appoint managers, employees, professional and technical staff and personnel and advisers of every kind, and to enter into any arrangement for payment or other remuneration (including all forms of benefits) in respect of the services of such persons;
- (23) to provide or arrange for pensions, lump sum payments, gratuities, life, health, accident and other insurances and other benefits (pecuniary or otherwise) of every kind to or for the benefit of any individuals who are or have been directors of, or employed by, or who provide or have provided personal services to or for, CDC or any company which is or has been a subsidiary, holding company or fellow subsidiary of CDC or otherwise connected with CDC or of any such subsidiary, holding or fellow subsidiary or connected company and to or for the benefit of the present or former spouses, children and other relatives and dependants of such individuals and other persons who have or formerly had with any such individuals any relationship of such a kind as the directors may approve; and for those purposes to establish or participate in any fund or scheme, to effect or contribute to any form of insurance and to enter into any other arrangements of any kind which the directors may approve;
- (24) to establish, maintain and participate in profit sharing, share holding, share option, incentive or similar schemes for the benefit of any of the directors or employees of CDC or of any such subsidiary, holding or fellow subsidiary or connected company and of any other person falling within any category approved by the directors, and to lend money to any such directors, employees or persons or to trustees on their behalf to enable any such schemes to be established or maintained;
- (25) to support and subscribe to any institution or association which may be for the benefit of CDC or its directors or employees or connected with any town or place where CDC carries on business, to support and subscribe to any charitable or public

- object whatsoever and to make donations to bodies, associations or causes with political objects;
- (26) to distribute among the members of CDC in kind any assets of CDC;
- (27) to pay any expenses connected with the promotion of CDC, to contract with any person to pay the same, and to pay commissions, fees and expenses or issue securities of CDC for underwriting, placing, distributing, or entering into any other kind of transaction in relation to, any securities of CDC;
- (28) to exercise any power of CDC for any consideration of any kind or for no consideration whatsoever;
- (29) to exercise any power of CDC in any country or territory and by or through agents, trustees, sub-contractors or otherwise and either alone or in conjunction with others;
- (30) to do all other things (whether similar to any of the foregoing or not) which may be considered by the directors of CDC incidental or conducive to the attainment of CDC's objects or any of them;

and it is declared that:

- (a) this clause will be interpreted in the widest and most general manner and without regard to any restrictive principle of interpretation;
- (b) each of the above subclauses, unless it expressly provides to the contrary, sets out a separate, distinct and independent object of CDC and not a power ancillary or incidental to the objects set out in any other subclause;
- (c) each of those subclauses will not prejudice the generality of any other subclause and no subclause will be in any way limited or restricted by reference to or inference from any other subclause;

(d) in this clause:

- (i) "assets" includes property, rights and interests of every description, whether present or future, actual or contingent and wherever located and, in the case of CDC, its uncalled capital;
- (ii) "charge" includes any mortgage, pledge, lien or other form of security;
- (iii) "dispose of", in relation to an asset, includes selling or transferring it or surrendering or extinguishing it, and also creating or granting it or any interest or right out of or in respect of it;
- (iv) "liabilities" includes debts and obligations of every description, whether present or future, actual or contingent;
- (v) "person" includes any partnership or other body of persons, whether corporate or unincorporate, and any country, territory, public authority and international organisation;

- (vi) "transaction" includes any scheme, arrangement and project; and
- (vii) the word "company", except where used in reference to CDC, shall be deemed to include any partnership or other body of persons, whether corporate or unincorporate and wherever incorporated, resident or domiciled.
- 5. The liability of the members is limited.
- 6. CDC's share capital is £10,000,001 divided into 100,000,000 shares of 10 pence each and one special rights redeemable preference share of £1.

Dated 8th December, 1999.

DATED 8TH DECEMBER, 1999

THE COMPANIES ACT 1985

A PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

CDC GROUP PLC

(REGISTERED WITH THE REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES ON 8TH DECEMBER, 1999)
NO. 3877777

ALLEN & OVERY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Exclusion of Table A	
2.	Definitions	
3.	Form of Resolution	
4.	Authorised Share Capital	4
5.	Rights Attached to Shares	4
6.	Redeemable Shares	
7.	Purchase of Own Shares	4
8.	Variation of Rights	5
9.	Pari Passu Issues	5
10.	Unissued Shares	5
1 i.	Special Share	
12.	Limitation on Shareholding	8
13.	Payment of Commission	11
14.	Trusts not Recognised	11
15.	Suspension of Rights where Non-Disclosure of Interest	11
16.	Uncertificated Shares	13
17.	Right to a Share Certificate	14
18.	Replacement of Share Certificates	14
19.	Execution of Share Certificates	15
20.	Calls	15
21.	Timing of Calls	15
22.	Liability of Joint Shareholders to pay Calls	16
23.	Interest due on Non-Payment of a Call	
24.	Sums due on Allotment treated as Calls	16
25.	Power to Differentiate	16
26.	Payment of Calls an Advance	16
27.	Notice if Call or Instalment not Paid	16
28.	Form of Notice	16
29.	Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice	17
30.	Notice after Forfeiture	17
31.	Sale of Forfeited Shares	17
32.	Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeitures	17
33.	Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture	17
34.	CDC's Lien on Partly Paid Shares	18
35.	Enforcing the Lien by Sale	18
36.	Application of Proceeds of Sale	
37.	Transfer of Shares	19
38.	Execution of Transfer Form	19
39.	Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares	19
40.	Other Rights to Decline Registration	19
41.	Notice of Refusal	20
42.	No Fee for Registration	20
43.	Untraced Shareholders	20
44.	Transmission on Death	21
45 .	Entry of Transmission in Register	21
46.	Person Entitled by Transmission may choose who becomes the Shareholder	21
47.	Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission	
48.	Increase, Consolidation, Sub-Division and Cancellation of Share Capital	
49.	Fractions Resulting from Consolidation and Sub-Divisions	
50.	Reduction of Capital	23

51.	Investment Policy	.23
52.	Statement of Business Principles and Policies	.23
53.	Extraordinary General Meetings	.24
54.	Annual General Meetings	.24
<i>5</i> 5.	Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings	.25
56.	Separate General Meetings of Shareholder Classes	
57.	Length and Form of Notice	
58 .	Omission or Failure to Receive Notice	
59.	Postponement of General Meetings	
60.	Quorum	
61.	Procedure if Quorum not Present	
62.	Security Arrangements	.26
63 .	Chairman of General Meeting	.26
64.	Orderly Conduct	.27
65.	Entitlement to attend and Speak	
66.	Adjournments	
67.	Notice of Adjournment	
68.	Amendments to Resolutions	
69.	Amendments Ruled Out of Order	
70.	Voting	
71.	Method of Voting	
72.	Procedure if Poll Demanded	
73.	When Poll to be Taken	
74.	Continuance of other Business after Poll Demand	
75.	Votes on a Poll	
76.	Casting Vote of Chairman	
77.	Representation of Corporations	
78.	Votes of Joint Shareholders	
79.	Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member	
80.	No Right to Vote where sums overdue on Shares	
81.	Objections or Errors in Voting	
82.	Execution of Proxies	
83.	Delivery of Proxies	
84.	Termination Date of Proxy	
85.	Form of Proxy	
86.	Cancellation of Proxy's Authority	
87.	Number of Directors	
88.	Age of Directors	
89.	Directors' Shareholding Qualification	
90.	Power of CDC to Appoint Directors	
91.	Power of Directors to Appoint Directors	
92.	Appointment of Directors by Special Shareholder	
93.	Number to Retire by Rotation.	
94.	Identity of Directors to Retire	
95.	Filling Vacancies	
96.	Power of Removal of Directors Appointed by CDC by Special Resolution	
97.	Persons Eligible as Directors	
98.	Position of Retiring Directors	
99.	Vacation of Office by Directors	
100.	Indemnity of Directors and Officers	
101.	Executive Directors	
102.	Directors' Fees	

103.	Additional Remuneration	.36
104.	Expenses	.36
105.	Pensions and Gratuities for Directors	36
106.	Permitted Interests and Voting.	36
107.	General Powers of CDC Vested in Directors	.38
108.	Borrowing Powers	39
109.	Powers of Attorney	
110.	Delegation of Individual Directors	
111.	Registers	
112.	Provision for Employees	
113.	Conduct of Directors' Meetings	
114.	Notice of Directors' Meeting	
115.	Quorum	
116.	Directors below Minimum through Vacancies	
117.	Appointment of Chairman	
118.	Competence in Meetings	
110. 119.	Voting	
120.	Delegation to Committees; Business Principles Committee	
120. 121.		
	Participation in Meetings by Telephone	
122.	Resolution in Writing	
123.	Minutes	
124.	Validity of Acts of Directors or Committee	
125.	Appointment and Removal of the Secretary	
126.	Official Seals	
127.	Use of Seals	
128.	Declaration of Dividends by CDC	
129.	Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Directors	
130.	Calculation and Currency of Dividends	
131.	Amounts due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends	
132.	No Interest on Dividends	
133.	Payment Procedure	
134.	Uncashed Dividends	
135.	Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends	
136.	Dividends not in Cash	
137.	Offer of Extra Shares instead of Dividends	.48
138.	Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds	
139.	Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution of Capitalised Reserves	.50
140.	Restrictions on Dividends	.50
141.	Power to choose any Record Date	.50
142.	Records to be Kept	.51
143.	Inspection of Records	.51
144.	Summary Financial Statements	.51
145.	Service of Notices	.51
146.	Recorded Date for Service	
147.	Shareholders Resident Abroad	
148.	Service of Notices on Persons Entitled by Transmission	
149.	When Notices deemed Served	
150.	Notice when Post not Available	
151.	Notice to the Crown	
152.	Presumption where Documents Destroyed	
153.	Distribution of Assets otherwise than in Cash.	

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

of

CDC GROUP PLC

(Registered with the Registrar of Companies on 8th December, 1999)

1. EXCLUSION OF TABLE A

"chairman"

The regulations in Table A of The Companies (Tables A to F) Regulations 1985 and any similar regulations in any other legislation relating to companies do not apply to CDC.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

(A) The following table gives the meaning of certain words and expressions as they are used in these articles. However, the meaning given in the table does not apply if it is not consistent with the context in which a word or expression appears. At the end of these articles there is a Glossary which explains various words and expressions which appear in the text. The Glossary also explains some of the words and expressions used in the memorandum. The Glossary is not part of the memorandum or articles and does not affect their meaning.

"amount" (of a share)	this refers to the nominal value of the share;
"these articles"	these articles of association as altered from time to time and the expression "this article" will be interpreted accordingly;
"auditors"	the auditors from time to time of CDC or, in the case of joint auditors, any one of them;
"board"	the board of directors of CDC from time to time;
"business principles committee"	the committee constituted in accordance with article 120;
"CDC"	CDC Group plc;
"certificated share"	a share which is not a CREST share and is normally held in certificated form;

"clear days" in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be served and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

the chairman of the board of directors;

"clearing house"

any pooled nominee service approved by CDC or

otherwise recognised;

"Companies Act"

The Companies Act 1985;

"CREST"

the electronic settlement system for securities traded on the London Stock Exchange and owned by

CREST Co., or any similar system;

"CREST share"

a share which is noted on the shareholders' register as being held through CREST in uncertificated form;

"Crown"

one or more of Her Majesty's Secretaries of State, another Minister of the Crown, the Commissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury, the Treasury Solicitor or any other person acting on behalf of the Crown;

"depositary"

a custodian or depositary (or a nominee of one of these) which holds shares and issues receipts in relation to share rights under the terms of a contract between it and CDC, where the custodian, depositary or nominee is acting in such capacity;

"directors"

the executive and non-executive directors of CDC who make up its board of directors (and "director" means any one of them) or the directors present at a meeting of the directors at which a quorum is present;

"investment policy"

the investment policy of CDC adopted in accordance with article 51 from time to time;

"legislation"

every statute including the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (and any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) applying to CDC;

"London Stock Exchange"

the London Stock Exchange Limited;

"office"

the registered office of CDC from time to time;

"ordinary shares"

CDC's ordinary shares;

"ordinary shareholder"

a holder of CDC's ordinary shares;

"paid up"

paid up or credited as paid up;

"pay"

includes any kind of reward or payment for services;

"register"

CDC's register of members;

"registration date"

8th December, 1999;

"seal"

any common, securities or official seal that CDC may

be permitted to use under the legislation;

"secretary" the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any

one of the joint secretaries, of CDC and includes an assistant or deputy secretary and any person appointed by the directors to perform any of the

duties of the secretary;

"shareholder" the person whose name is entered in the register as a

holder of CDC's shares;

"special share" the one special rights redeemable preference share of

£1 in the capital of CDC;

"special shareholder" the holder of the special share from time to time;

"statement of business the statement of business principles and policies of CDC adopted in accordance with article 52 from time

to time;

"Treasury Solicitor" the Solicitor for the affairs of Her Majesty's

Treasury;

"Uncertificated Securities

Regulations"

The Uncertificated Securities Regulations 1995; and

"United Kingdom" the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern

Ireland.

(B) References in these articles to a document being "executed" include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by any other method.

- (C) References in these articles to "writing" include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form.
- (D) Words which are in the singular may also be read as being in the plural and the other way round. Words which are in the masculine form may also be read as referring to the feminine or to other bodies or persons. References to a person or people include any company, partnership, firm, government authority, body or society whether or not incorporated.
- (E) When any legislation is referred to, this includes any amendment, as well as its addition or re-enactment (with or without modification) in later legislation. References to legislation are to the version which is current at any particular time.
- (F) Any words or expressions defined in the legislation in force when these articles or any part of these articles are adopted will (if not inconsistent with the subject or context in which they appear) have the same meaning in these articles or that part save the word "company" includes any body corporate.
- (G) References to a meeting will not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can be satisfied by one person.

- (H) Headings in these articles are only included for convenience. They do not affect the meaning of these articles.
- (I) Where these articles refer to a person who is entitled to a share by law, this includes a person who is entitled to the share as a result of the death or bankruptcy of a shareholder.
- (J) References to months or years, are calendar months or years.
- (K) Where these articles give any power or authority to any person, this power or authority can be used on any number of occasions, unless the way in which the words are used does not allow this meaning.

3. FORM OF RESOLUTION

- (A) Where these articles or the legislation say that anything can be done by passing an ordinary resolution, this can also be done by passing a special resolution or an extraordinary resolution.
- (B) Subject to the legislation, a written resolution signed by or on behalf of each shareholder who would have been entitled to vote on it at a general meeting will be as effective as a resolution passed at a general meeting which is properly called and held. A written resolution which is described as a special resolution will be treated as a special resolution. A written resolution which is described as an ordinary resolution will be treated as an ordinary resolution. The resolution may be passed using several copies of a document if each document is signed by one or more shareholders. These copies can be fax copies.

4. AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

CDC's authorised share capital on the registration date is £10,000,001 divided into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of 10 pence each and one special rights redeemable preference share of £1.

5. RIGHTS ATTACHED TO SHARES

Subject to the legislation, CDC may issue shares with any rights or restrictions attached to them. These rights or restrictions can be decided either by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders or by the directors as long as there is no conflict with any resolution passed by the shareholders. The ability to attach particular rights and restrictions to shares may be restricted by special rights previously given to holders of existing shares.

6. REDEEMABLE SHARES

Subject to the legislation and to any special rights previously given to existing shareholders, CDC may issue shares which can be redeemed. This may include shares which can be redeemed if the shareholders want to do so, as well as shares which CDC can insist on redeeming.

7. PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

Subject to any special rights previously given to existing shareholders, CDC may purchase or contract to purchase any of its shares (including redeemable shares), if the

legislation allows this. However, if CDC has other securities in issue listed on the London Stock Exchange allowing shareholders to convert them into or exchange them for shares which are equity shares and are the class of shares to be purchased, if the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange so require, the shareholders of such securities must first pass an extraordinary resolution approving the purchase at a class meeting. A resolution is not required if the terms on which the securities were issued allow the purchase. The directors are not required to select the shares to purchase in any particular manner.

8. VARIATION OF RIGHTS

If the legislation allows this, the rights attached to any class of shares may be changed if this is approved either in writing by shareholders holding at least three quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class or by an extraordinary resolution passed at a separate meeting of the shareholders of the relevant class of shares. This is called a "class meeting". All the articles relating to general meetings will apply, with any necessary changes, to any such class meeting. The following changes will also apply:

- (i) a quorum will be present if at least two shareholders are present in person or by proxy who own at least one third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class;
- (ii) any shareholder of shares of the relevant class who is present in person or by proxy can demand a poll;
- (iii) on a poll every shareholder who is present in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote for every share he has of the class (but this is subject to any special rights or restrictions which are attached to any class of shares); and
- (iv) at an adjourned meeting, one person who holds shares of the class, or his proxy, will be a quorum.

The provisions of this article will apply to any change of rights of shares forming part of a class. Each part of the class which is being treated differently is treated as a separate class in operating this article.

9. PARI PASSU ISSUES

If new shares are created or issued which rank equally with any other existing shares, the rights of the existing shares will not be regarded as changed unless the terms of the existing shares expressly say otherwise.

10. UNISSUED SHARES

The directors may decide how to deal with any shares which have not been issued. They may, for instance, offer the shares for sale, grant options to acquire them, allot them or dispose of the shares in any other way. The directors are free to decide who they deal with, when they deal with the shares and the terms on which they deal with the shares. However, in making their decision they must obey:

- (i) the provisions of the legislation relating to authority, pre-emption rights and other matters; and
- (ii) any resolution of a general meeting which is passed under the legislation.

11. SPECIAL SHARE

The provisions of this article are subject to the provisions of section 18 of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999.

- (A) The special share may only be issued to, held by and transferred to one or more of Her Majesty's Secretaries of State, another Minister of the Crown, the Treasury Solicitor or any other person acting on behalf of the Crown.
- (B) The amendment or removal of, or alteration of the effect of, certain provisions of these articles shall require the written consent of the special shareholder. This is so even if these articles suggest otherwise. If an attempt is made to change any of these provisions by special resolution, the special shareholder shall have no less than one more vote than 25 per cent. of the total votes cast. This restriction on amendment, removal or alteration applies to the following provisions:
 - (i) in article 2 (Definitions), the definitions of "Crown", "special share" and "special shareholder";
 - (ii) this article;
 - (iii) article 12 (Limitations on shareholdings);
 - (iv) article 87 (Number of directors);
 - (v) article 92 (Appointment of directors by Special Shareholder);
 - (vi) in articles 93 and 94 (Number to Retire by Rotation and Identity of Directors to Retire) and 106 (Permitted Interests and Voting), those provisions relating or applying to a director appointed by the special shareholder;
 - (vii) any other references in these articles to a director appointed by the special shareholder;
 - (viii) articles 114 (Notice of Directors' Meetings) and 119 (Voting);
 - (ix) article 51 (Investment Policy);
 - (x) article 52 (Statement of Business Principles and Policies) and the reference to it in article 119; and
 - (xi) article 120 (Delegation to Committees; Business Principles Committee);
- (C) The written consent of the special shareholder is also required before certain events can take place. This is so even if these articles suggest otherwise. This restriction applies to the following events:
 - (i) CDC creating, issuing, purchasing, redeeming or repaying any of its shares or reducing or reorganising its share capital or any rights to it in any way;
 - (ii) CDC altering the voting rights of any of its shares;
 - (iv) (iii) CDC entering into a transaction with a related party. In this article, a transaction is a transaction with a related party if it falls within the definition of

this expression in the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange in force on the registration date, with one exception. A transaction with the Crown will not be caught by this provision;

- (iv) CDC altering clause 4 of its memorandum of association; and
- (v) the removal of any director appointed by the Secretary of State.

If an attempt is made to approve any of these events or to pass a resolution to wind up CDC at a general meeting, on an ordinary resolution the special shareholder will have no less than one vote more than the total number of all other votes cast and, on a special resolution, he shall have no less than one more vote than 25 per cent. of the total votes cast.

- (D) The special shareholder's only rights regarding meetings are set out in this article 11. The special shareholder must receive notice of any general meeting and any class meeting. He may attend and speak at any such meeting, but, subject to articles 11(B) and 11(C), the special share carries no voting rights.
- (E) If CDC is wound up, the special shareholder will be entitled to be repaid the capital on the special share before other shareholders receive any payment. The special shareholder has no other right to share in the capital or profits of CDC.
- (F) CDC:
 - (i) will, if it receives a written request at its registered office from the special shareholder to redeem the special share, redeem that share at face value on any day falling within a period of 180 days, commencing with the day on which CDC receives the written request, or within such longer period as the special shareholder may specify in writing to CDC; and
 - (ii) may redeem the special share at face value on the day ("the date of redemption") on which the Crown:
 - (a) holds less than 25 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of CDC, and
 - (b) has held less than 25 per cent. of that capital of CDC for a continuous period of at least 90 days ending on the redemption date,

provided that (1) the Secretary of State is released from his statutory duty to ensure that the Crown continues to hold the special share; and (2) CDC has given notice of its intention to do so; and, for this purpose, CDC has given notice of its intention to redeem the special share if, at least 30 clear days, but not more than 90 clear days, before the date of redemption, it has:

- (a) served notice on the Crown that the Crown holds less than 25 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of CDC, and
- (b) published the notice in the London Gazette.

For the purposes of this article, ordinary shares are held by the Crown if:

(a) they are held directly by the Crown or;

(b) they are held indirectly by the Crown, in the number and to the extent described in the paragraph below. Shares are held indirectly by the Crown where the Crown has an interest in another entity (such as a company, partnership or other legal entity) and that entity holds shares in CDC, either directly or indirectly through any number of intermediary entities.

Where CDC shares are held indirectly, the number of shares attributable to the Crown will be calculated by multiplying the direct or indirect proportionate interest the Crown has in the ordinary share capital, or its equivalent, of the entity which directly holds the CDC shares by the proportion of CDC shares held by that entity. The Crown may only include an indirect holding of CDC shares for the purposes of this article, if the Crown is able to control the ability of the entity which directly holds the shares to dispose of the CDC shares and can prevent the Crown's interest in that entity from changing. If the Crown has no control over either of these events, the transfer of CDC shares to that entity will be treated as a transfer of CDC shares to an entity in which the Crown does not have an interest.

Following the redemption of the special share, the provisions of this article will no longer apply.

(G) Where the written consent of the special shareholder is required under these articles, CDC must request the consent by notice in writing. The special shareholder will be treated as refusing consent if consent is not given within 60 clear days of CDC's request.

12. LIMITATION ON SHAREHOLDING

- (A) This article will apply until the date CDC redeems the special share. After that date this article will be of no effect. This article does not apply, at any time, to those listed in paragraph (M) of this article which are referred to in this article as "permitted persons".
- (B) This article is designed to ensure that no-one other than a permitted person may directly or indirectly own or control the right to exercise 15 per cent. or more of the votes attaching to the shares which carry voting rights on a poll vote in general meeting. In this article an interest in 15 per cent. or more of the shares which carry voting rights is referred to as a "15 per cent. interest". The shares relevant to this interest are "15 per cent. shares" and a person, other than a permitted person, who has, or whom the directors reasonably believe has, a 15 per cent. interest, is a "15 per cent. shareholder".
- (C) Certain provisions of Part VI of The Companies Act 1985 in force on the registration date deal with disclosure of interests. These provisions are referred to as the "disclosure provisions" in this article. Certain of the expressions used in the disclosure provisions are used in this article. For the purposes of this article, these expressions will continue to bear the meanings given to them in the disclosure provisions even if the Companies Act 1985 is amended, re-enacted or repealed. However, for the avoidance of doubt, sections 210(3) to (6), 211(10), 213(3) (so far as it relates to section 211(10)), 214(5), 215(8), 216(1) to (4), 217(7), 218(3), 219(3) and (4), 454, 455, 732 and 733 of the disclosure provisions do not apply to disclosure under this article. The result of this is that people with particular interests in CDC's shares are under a duty to disclose their interest to CDC.

A person has an interest in the shares which may fall to be disclosed under this article if:

- (i) he has a notifiable interest under the disclosure provisions; or
- (ii) he has an entitlement to acquire an interest which could arise as a result of an agreement or arrangements as defined in sections 204(5) and (6) of the disclosure provisions and which would constitute a notifiable interest under the disclosure provisions.

CDC will keep a register to record all interests notified to it under this article.

- (D) If the directors know or reasonably believe that someone is a 15 per cent. shareholder, they will send out a notice to that person and all others who have, or the directors reasonably believe have, an interest in the shares. If none of these is the shareholder the directors will also send the notice to the shareholder. The directors will not need to send a notice to someone if they do not know his name or address. The notice will:
 - (i) set out the restrictions described in paragraph (H);
 - (ii) require that the recipients of the notice dispose of sufficient shares so that the 15 per cent. shareholder no longer has a 15 per cent. interest. The 15 per cent. shareholder must ensure that no other persons acquire a 15 per cent. interest as a result of that disposal; and
 - (iii) state the date by which the recipients must have complied with the disposal requirements.

The directors will decide how long the notified parties have to comply with the requirements and may extend the period after sending out the notice.

- (E) The directors may withdraw the notice at any stage if it appears to them that no-one has a 15 per cent. interest. While the notice is outstanding the notified parties may not transfer any of the 15 per cent. shares other than to reduce the interest in line with the notice.
- (F) If the directors have not withdrawn the notice and are not satisfied that the parties have complied with the notice, the directors will dispose of sufficient of the 15 per cent. shares so that there is no longer any related 15 per cent. interest. When the directors dispose of shares under this article, the disposal is referred to as a "directors' disposal". The directors will decide the timing, terms and means of any directors' disposal after taking account of the advice of those the directors consider appropriate in the circumstances. The directors will not be liable to any person for any consequence of the directors relying on advice given. If the 15 per cent. shares are held by more than one shareholder the directors will, to the extent practicable on the basis of information they have at the time, dispose of the same proportion of each holding. For this article only, the joint holders are treated as one shareholder. The directors will send notice of the directors' disposal to the same people who received the original notice. These people will be treated as irrevocably and unconditionally having authorised the directors' disposal.
- (G) In making any directors' disposal the directors may give written authorisation to any officer or employee of CDC to execute or effect any necessary transfers. The board may enter the person or persons to whom the shares are being transferred in the register

and issue share certificates to them even if they do not have the share certificates for the 15 per cent. shares. A transfer made in this way is as effective as if it had been made by the shareholder. The proceeds of any directors' disposal will be held on trust by CDC for the relevant shareholder, after the deduction of all expenses incurred by CDC in relation to the disposal. No interest will be paid on the proceeds. If the person to whom the shares are being transferred pays the purchase money to CDC and has a receipt for this payment, he will get good title. He does not need to take any steps to see how any money paid is used. Where a shareholder's shareholding is reduced (but not extinguished) by the directors' disposal, a new certificate indicating the change in the shareholding will be issued to the shareholder. If the shareholding is in uncertified form, the provisions dealing with CREST shares under article 16 will apply.

- (H) Shareholders who have received notice under paragraph (D), are not entitled to attend or vote at any general or class meeting or exercise any other shareholder rights in relation to meetings. Their right to attend, speak and demand and vote on a poll will instead be given to the chairman of the meeting. The chairman may exercise or not exercise these rights at his discretion. The directors will inform the chairman of the meeting of the existence of any restrictions imposed under this article. These restrictions continue until the shareholders have complied with the requirement of the notice or the notice is withdrawn.
- (I) The directors may assume without enquiry that a person is not a 15 per cent. shareholder. If, however, the register kept under paragraph (C) indicates to the contrary or if the directors have reason to believe otherwise, the directors must make reasonable enquiries to clarify the situation. Any director who has reason to believe that someone has a 15 per cent. interest must inform the other directors of that fact.
- (J) When sending a notice to anyone under this article, CDC will apply the rules on giving notice contained elsewhere in these articles as if each recipient were a shareholder. The only exception is that where a person does not have a registered address in the UK, CDC will validly send a notice if it is stamped and posted to him at an address which the directors believe to be his residential or business address, or the last known address held by CDC or a depositary.
- (K) Decisions or actions taken by the directors or the chairman of any meeting under this article are binding on all persons concerned and may not be challenged. The directors do not have to give any reasons for decisions or actions made under this article.
- (L) The obligation to record all interests in shares under paragraph (C) does not apply to depositaries or clearing houses. For the purposes of this article, anyone using the services of a depositary or clearing house has an interest in the number of shares which the depositary or clearing house is, or may become, liable to account to him. This interest will not increase merely because he is a tenant in common in relation to, or holding as common property, other interests in shares held by the depositary or clearing house.
- (M) This article does not apply to the following persons:
 - (i) a depositary;
 - (ii) a clearing house;
 - (iii) the chairman of any meeting exercising the rights given to him under article 12(H);

- (iv) a trustee of a CDC employees' share scheme;
- (v) a person acting on behalf of the Crown;
- (vi) bare trustees of interests in shares;
- (vii) an underwriter acting under the terms of a board approved agreement until three months after actual purchase or subscription of shares by him;
- (viii) a board approved person who within three months of acquiring an interest in shares, intends to offer that interest to the public; and
- (ix) any person having an interest merely because he can exercise one third of the voting power at any general meeting of a company which falls within (i)-(viii) above.

The rights and obligations created by this article are in addition to those imposed by the Companies Act. In particular, the register required to be kept by CDC under paragraph (C) is additional to the register required by section 211 of the Companies Act.

13. PAYMENT OF COMMISSION

In connection with any share issue, CDC may use all the powers given by the legislation to pay commission or brokerage.

14. TRUSTS NOT RECOGNISED

CDC will only recognise, a current and absolute right to whole shares. If a share, or any part of a share, is not owned outright by the registered shareholder (for example, where a share is held by one person as a nominee or otherwise as a trustee for another person) it is of no concern to CDC. The only exceptions to this are where the rights of the kind described are expressly given by these articles or are of a kind which CDC has a legal duty to recognise.

15. SUSPENSION OF RIGHTS WHERE NON-DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

- (A) CDC may under the Companies Act send out notices to those it knows or has reasonable cause to believe have an interest in its shares. In the notice, CDC will ask for details of those who have an interest and the extent of their interest in a particular holding of shares. In these articles this notice is referred to as a "statutory notice" and the holding of shares is referred to as the "identified shares".
- (B) When a person receives a statutory notice, he has 14 days to comply with it. If he does not do so, CDC may decide to restrict the rights relating to the identified shares and send out a further notice to the shareholder, known as a restriction notice. The restriction notice will take effect when it is delivered. The restriction notice will state that the identified shares no longer give the shareholder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at a shareholders' meeting or to exercise any other right in relation to shareholders' meetings.
- (C) Where the identified shares make up 0.25 per cent. or more (in nominal value or in number) of the existing shares of a class, the restriction notice may also contain the following further restrictions:

- (i) the directors may withhold any dividend or part of a dividend (including scrip dividend) or other money which would otherwise be payable in respect of the identified shares without any liability to pay interest when such money is finally paid to the shareholder; and
- (ii) the directors may refuse to register a transfer of any of the identified shares in certificated form and, so far as permitted by the Uncertificated Securities Regulations, a transfer of any of the identified shares which are CREST shares, unless the directors are satisfied that they have been sold outright to an independent third party. The independent third party must not be connected with the shareholder or with any person appearing to be interested in the shares. Any sale through the London Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange on which CDC's shares are normally traded or by way of acceptance of a takeover offer will be treated as an outright sale to an independent third party. For this purpose, any associate (as that term is defined in section 435 of the Insolvency Act 1986) is included in the class of persons who are connected with the shareholder or any person appearing to be interested in the shares.
- (D) Once a restriction notice has been given, the directors are free to cancel it or exclude any shares from it at any time they think fit. In addition, they must cancel the restriction notice within 7 days of being satisfied that all information requested in the statutory notice has been given. Also, where any of the identified shares are sold and the directors are satisfied that they were sold outright to an independent third party, the transferred shares will no longer be affected by the restriction notice.
- (E) The restriction notice will apply to any further shares issued in respect of the identified shares. The directors may also make the restrictions in the restriction notice apply to any right to an allotment of further shares associated with the identified shares.
- (F) If a shareholder receives a restriction notice, he may ask CDC for a written explanation of why the notice was given, or why it has not been cancelled. CDC must respond within 14 days of receiving the request.
- (G) If CDC gives a statutory notice to a person it thinks has an interest in any of its shares, it will also give a copy at the same time to the relevant shareholder. If CDC does not do so or the shareholder does not receive the copy, this will not invalidate the statutory notice.
- (H) This article does not restrict in any way the provisions of the Companies Act which apply to failures to comply with notices under section 212 of the Companies Act.
- (I) If CDC gives a statutory notice to a depositary:
 - (i) the depositary need only disclose information to CDC which it is contractually bound to record under the terms of any contract between the depositary and CDC; and
 - (ii) where the depositary is the shareholder, the restrictions referred to in paragraphs (B) and (C) will not be effective until the depositary is sent a notice specifying the other persons which CDC knows or has reasonable cause to believe have an interest in the identified shares.

- (J) For the purposes of this article, the test in article 12(I) will be used to determine the number of shares in which a person is interested in two circumstances:
 - (i) where a person can show he has an interest in any shares because he has a receipt issued by CDC under article 12(G); and
 - (ii) if a person can show he has as interest in any CDC shares which are at the time deposited in the CREST Courier and Sorting Service or registered in the name of a clearing house.
- (K) Where a depositary or clearing house has an interest in shares subject to a restriction notice, the restrictions will only apply to the identified shares, and not to any other shares in which the depositary or clearing house is interested.

16. UNCERTIFICATED SHARES

(A) Under the Uncertificated Securities Regulations, the directors may allow the ownership of selected shares to be evidenced without share certificates and for these shares to be transferred through CREST. The directors may select and make arrangements for any class of shares to participate in CREST in this way, provided that the shares of the class are identical in all respects.

As long as the directors comply with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations and the rules of CREST, they may also withdraw a class of shares from being transferred through CREST and from allowing ownership of them to be evidenced without share certificates.

CREST shares do not form a class of shares separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

- (B) If CDC has any shares in issue which are in uncertificated form, these articles apply to those shares, but only as far as they are consistent with:
 - (i) holding shares in an uncertificated form;
 - (ii) transferring shares through CREST;
 - (iii) any provision of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations; or
 - (iv) any rules laid down by the directors under this article.
- (C) The directors can lay down rules:
 - (i) which regulate the issue, holding and transfer and, where appropriate, the mechanics of conversion and redemption of CREST shares and other securities;
 - (ii) which regulate the mechanics for payments involving a relevant system; and
 - (iii) which make any other provisions which the directors consider are necessary to ensure that the articles are consistent with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations or with any rules or guidance of an Operator of a relevant system under the Uncertificated Securities Regulations.

These rules will, if they say so, apply instead of the other provisions in these articles relating to certificates and the transfer, conversion and redemption of shares and other securities and any other provisions which are not consistent with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations.

- (D) CREST shares may be changed to become certificated shares and certificated shares may be changed to become CREST shares, provided the requirements of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations and the rules of CREST are met.
- (E) Unless the Uncertificated Securities Regulations or the rules of CREST otherwise require or the directors otherwise determine, shares which are issued or created from or in respect of CREST shares will be CREST shares and shares which are issued or created from or in respect of certificated shares will be certificated shares.

17. RIGHT TO A SHARE CERTIFICATE

- (A) When a shareholder is first registered as the holder of any class of certificated shares, he is entitled, free of charge, to a separate share certificate for each class held by him.
- (B) If a shareholder gets more certificated shares of any class, he is entitled, without charge, to another certificate for the extra shares.
- (C) If a shareholder transfers some of his shares represented by a share certificate or chooses to hold some of his shares in uncertificated form, he is entitled, free of charge, to a new certificate for the balance to the extent the balance is to be held in certificated form.
- (D) Where a certificated share is held jointly, CDC does not have to issue more than one certificate for that share. When CDC delivers a share certificate to one joint shareholder, this is treated as delivery to all of the joint shareholders.
- (E) The time limit for CDC to provide a share certificate under this article is:
 - one month after the allotment of a new share in certificated form (or any longer period provided by its terms of issue);
 - (ii) five business days after a transfer of a fully paid share in certificated form is presented for registration; or
 - (iii) two months after a transfer of a partly paid share in certificated form is presented for registration.

18. REPLACEMENT OF SHARE CERTIFICATES

- (A) If a shareholder has two or more share certificates for shares of the same class, he can ask CDC for these to be cancelled and replaced by a single new certificate. CDC must comply with this request.
- (B) A shareholder can ask CDC to cancel and replace a single share certificate with two or more certificates for the same total number of shares. CDC may comply with this request.
- (C) A shareholder can ask CDC for a new certificate if the original is:

- (i) damaged or defaced; or
- (ii) said to be lost, stolen or destroyed.
- (D) If a certificate has been damaged or defaced, CDC can require the certificate to be returned to it before issuing a replacement. If a certificate is said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, CDC can require satisfactory evidence of this and insist on receiving an indemnity before issuing a replacement.
- (E) The directors can require the shareholder to pay CDC's exceptional out-of-pocket expenses for issuing any certificates under this article.
- (F) Any one joint shareholder holding certificated shares can request replacement certificates under this article.

19. EXECUTION OF SHARE CERTIFICATES

Share certificates must be signed under a seal or in such other way as the directors decide. The directors can resolve that signatures on any share certificates can be applied to the certificates by mechanical means or can be printed on them or that the certificates need not be signed at all. A share certificate must state the number and class of shares to which it relates and the amount paid up on those shares.

20. CALLS

The directors can call on shareholders to pay any money which has not yet been paid to CDC for their shares. This includes the nominal value of the shares and any premium which may be payable on those shares. The directors can also make calls on people who are entitled to shares by law. If the terms of issue of the shares allow this, the directors can do any one or more of the following:

- (i) make calls at any time and as often as they think fit;
- (ii) decide when and where the money is to be paid;
- (iii) decide that the money may be paid by instalments;
- (iv) cancel or postpone any call.

A shareholder who has received at least 14 clear days' notice giving details of the amount called and of the time and place for payment, must pay the call as required by the notice.

If the directors call on any shareholder to pay any money under this article, he is liable for the amount of money due. The shareholder will continue to be liable even if he subsequently transfers the shares to which the call relates.

21. TIMING OF CALLS

A call is treated as having been made as soon as the directors have passed a resolution authorising it.

22. LIABILITY OF JOINT SHAREHOLDERS TO PAY CALLS

Joint shareholders are jointly and severally liable to pay any calls in respect of their shares. This means that one or more of them may be sued for all the money due on the shares or they may all be sued together.

23. INTEREST DUE ON NON-PAYMENT OF A CALL

Where a call is made and the money, as required by the notice, remains unpaid when due, the shareholder will be liable to pay interest on the amount unpaid from the day it is due until it has actually been paid. The directors will decide on the annual rate of interest, which must not exceed 15 per cent. The shareholder will also be liable to pay all expenses incurred by CDC as a result of the non-payment of the call. The directors can decide to forego payment of any or all of such interest or expenses.

24. SUMS DUE ON ALLOTMENT TREATED AS CALLS

If the terms of a share require any money to be paid at the time of allotment, or at any other fixed date, the money due will be treated in the same way as a valid call for money on shares which is due on the same date. If this money is not paid, everything in these articles relating to non-payment of calls applies. This includes articles which allow CDC to forfeit or sell shares and to claim interest.

25. POWER TO DIFFERENTIATE

On or before an issue of shares, the directors can decide that shareholders may be called on to pay different amounts or that they may be called on at different times.

26. PAYMENT OF CALLS IN ADVANCE

The directors can accept payment in advance of some or all of the money from a shareholder before he is called on to pay that money. The directors can agree to pay interest at a rate (not exceeding (unless CDC passes an ordinary resolution to allow a higher rate) 15 per cent. per annum) fixed by the directors on money paid in advance until it would otherwise be due to CDC.

27. NOTICE IF CALL OR INSTALMENT NOT PAID

If a shareholder fails to pay a call or an instalment of a call when due, the directors may send the shareholder a notice requiring payment of the unpaid amount, together with any interest accrued and any expenses incurred by CDC as a result of the failure to pay.

28. FORM OF NOTICE

This notice must:

- (i) demand payment of the amount immediately payable, plus any interest and expenses;
- (ii) give the date by when the total amount due must be paid. This must be at least 14 clear days after the date of the notice;
- (iii) say where the payment must be made; and

(iv) say that if the full amount demanded is not paid by the time and at the place stated, CDC can forfeit the shares on which the call or instalment is outstanding.

The directors may accept the surrender of any share which would otherwise be forfeited. Where they do so, references in these articles to forfeiture include surrender.

29. FORFEITURE FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH NOTICE

If the notice is not complied with, the shares it relates to can be forfeited at any time while any amount is still outstanding. This is done by the directors passing a resolution stating that the shares have been forfeited. Any payments due but not yet paid in respect of the forfeited shares, including all dividends declared, will not be made.

30. NOTICE AFTER FORFEITURE

After a share has been forfeited, CDC will notify the person whose share has been forfeited. This includes a person who was entitled to the share by law. However, the share will still be forfeited even if such notice is not given.

31. SALE OF FORFEITED SHARES

- (A) A forfeited share becomes the property of CDC and the directors may sell or dispose of it on any terms and in any way that they decide. This can be with, or without, a credit for any amount previously paid up for the share. It can be sold or disposed of to any person, including the previous shareholder or the person who was previously entitled to the share by law. The directors can, if necessary, authorise any person to transfer a forfeited share.
- (B) After a share has been forfeited, the directors may cancel the forfeiture, but only before the share has been sold or disposed of. This cancellation of forfeiture may be on any terms the directors decide.

32. ARREARS TO BE PAID NOTWITHSTANDING FORFEITURES

When a person's shares have been forfeited, he will lose all rights as a shareholder in respect of those forfeited shares. If the shares are certificated shares, he must return any share certificate for the forfeited shares to CDC for cancellation. However, he will remain liable to pay calls which have been made, but not paid, before the shares were forfeited. He must also pay interest on the unpaid amount until it is paid. The directors can fix the rate of interest, but it must not be more than 15 per cent. a year. The shareholder continues to be liable for all claims and demands which CDC could have made relating to the forfeited share. He is not entitled to any credit for the value of the share when it was forfeited or for any consideration received on its disposal unless the directors decide to allow credit for all or any of that value.

33. STATUTORY DECLARATION AS TO FORFEITURE

- (A) A director or the secretary may make a statutory declaration declaring:
 - (i) that he is a director or the secretary of CDC;
 - (ii) that a share has been properly forfeited under the articles; and

(iii) when the share was forfeited.

The declaration will be evidence of these facts which cannot be disputed.

(B) If such a declaration is delivered to a new shareholder along with a completed transfer form (if one is required), this gives the buyer good title. The new shareholder does not need to take any steps to see how any money paid for the share is used. His ownership of the share will not be affected if the steps taken to forfeit, sell or dispose of the share were invalid or irregular, or if anything that should have been done was not done.

34. CDC'S LIEN ON PARTLY PAID SHARES

CDC has a lien (i.e. a legal claim) on all partly paid shares. This lien has priority over claims of others to the shares. The lien is for any money owed to CDC for the shares. The directors can decide to give up any lien which has arisen and can also decide to suspend any lien which would otherwise apply to particular shares.

35. ENFORCING THE LIEN BY SALE

If a shareholder fails to pay CDC any amount due on his partly paid shares, the directors can enforce CDC's lien by selling all or any of them in any way they decide. The directors may not, however, sell the shares until all the following conditions are met:

- (i) the money owed by the shareholder must be payable immediately;
- (ii) the directors must have given written notice to the shareholder. The notice must state the amount of money due, it must demand payment of this sum and state that the shareholders' shares may be sold if the money is not paid;
- (iii) the notice must have been served on the shareholder or on any person who is entitled to the shares by law and can be served in any way that the directors decide; and
- (iv) the money has not been paid by at least 14 clear days after the notice has been served

The directors can authorise any person to sign a document transferring the shares. Any such transferee will not be bound to ensure that his purchase moneys are transferred to the person whose shares have been sold, nor will his ownership of the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in relation to the sale to him.

36. APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF SALE

If the directors sell any shares on which CDC has a lien, the proceeds will first be used to pay CDC's expenses associated with the sale. The remaining money will be used to pay off the amount which is then payable on the shares and any balance will be passed to the former shareholder or to any person who would otherwise be entitled to the shares by law. If the shares are held in certificated form, CDC need not pay over anything until the certificate representing the shares sold has been delivered to CDC for cancellation.

37. TRANSFER OF SHARES

(A) Certificated shares

Unless these articles say otherwise, any shareholder may transfer some or all of his certificated shares to another person. A transfer of certificated shares must be made in writing and either in the usual standard form or in any other form approved by the directors.

(B) CREST shares

Unless these articles say otherwise, any shareholder may transfer some or all of his CREST shares to another person. A transfer of CREST shares must be made by means of a relevant system and must comply with the Uncertificated Securities Regulations.

38. EXECUTION OF TRANSFER FORM

- (A) A share transfer form must be signed or made effective in some other way by, or on behalf of, the person making the transfer.
- (B) A transfer form cannot be used to transfer more than one class of shares. Each class needs a separate form.
- (C) In the case of a transfer of a share held in certificated form, where the share is not fully paid, the share transfer form must also be signed or made effective in some other way by, or on behalf of, the person to whom the share is being transferred.
- (D) The person making a transfer will continue to be treated as a shareholder until the name of the person to whom the share is being transferred is put on the register for that share.
- (E) If CDC registers a transfer of a share held in certificated form, it can keep the transfer form.

39. RIGHTS TO DECLINE REGISTRATION OF PARTLY PAID SHARES

The directors may, without giving any reason, refuse to register the transfer of any shares which are not fully paid. But, if any of those shares have been admitted to the Official List of the London Stock Exchange, the directors cannot refuse to register the transfer if this would stop dealings in the shares from taking place on an open and proper basis.

40. OTHER RIGHTS TO DECLINE REGISTRATION

(A) Certificated shares

- (i) A share transfer form cannot be used to transfer more than one class of shares. Each class needs a separate form.
- (ii) Transfers may not be in favour of more than four joint shareholders.
- (iii) The share transfer form must be delivered to the office, or any other place decided on by the directors. The transfer form must be accompanied by the share certificate relating to the shares being transferred, unless the transfer is being made by a person to whom CDC was not required to, and did not send, a

certificate. The directors may also ask (acting reasonably) for any other evidence to show that the person wishing to transfer the share is entitled to do so.

(B) CREST shares

- (i) The directors may refuse to register a transfer of CREST shares in the circumstances set out in the Uncertificated Securities Regulations.
- (ii) Transfers may not be in favour of more than four joint shareholders.

41. NOTICE OF REFUSAL

If the directors decide not to register a share transfer, they must notify the person to whom the shares were being transferred. This must be done no later than two months after CDC receives the transfer (where the shares are held in certificated form) or two months after CDC receives the relevant Operator-instruction (where the shares are CREST shares).

42. NO FEE FOR REGISTRATION

No fee is payable to CDC for transferring shares or registering changes relating to the ownership of shares.

43. UNTRACED SHAREHOLDERS

- (A) CDC may sell any certificated shares by instructing a member of the London Stock Exchange to sell them at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale, if:
 - (i) during the 12 years before the earliest of the notices referred to in (ii) below, at least three dividends have become payable on the shares and no dividend has been claimed during that period;
 - (ii) after the 12 year period, CDC has published a notice, stating that it intends to sell the shares. The notice must have appeared in a national newspaper in the United Kingdom and in a local newspaper appearing in the area in the United Kingdom which includes the address held by CDC for serving notices relating to those shares;
 - (iii) during the 12 year period and for three months after the last of the notices referred to in (ii) above appear, CDC has not heard from the shareholder or any person entitled to the shares by law; and
 - (iv) CDC has notified the London Stock Exchange that it intends to sell the shares.
- (B) CDC may also sell any further shares issued in respect of the specified shares of untraced shareholders. This may only be done if:
 - (i) the shares are issued before the publication of any notice under paragraph (A)(ii); and
 - (ii) the steps set out in paragraph (A)(ii) (iv) are taken.

For the purposes of this paragraph (B), the twelve year period will be treated as meaning the period from allotment of the further shares to the date of publication of the first notice.

- (C) To sell any shares in this way, the directors may appoint anyone to transfer the shares. This transfer will be just as effective as if it had been signed by the shareholder, or by a person who is entitled to the shares by law. The person to whom the shares are transferred will not be bound to concern himself as to what is done with the purchase moneys nor will his ownership be affected even if the sale is irregular or invalid in any way.
- (D) The proceeds of sale will belong to CDC, but it must pay an amount equal to the sale proceeds less the costs of the sale to the shareholder who could not be traced, or to the person who is entitled to his shares by law, if that shareholder, or person, asks for it.
- (E) After the sale, CDC must record the name of the shareholder, or (if known) the person who would have been entitled to the shares by law, as a creditor for the money in its accounts. CDC will not be a trustee of the money and will not be liable to pay interest on it. CDC can use the money, and any money earned by using the money, for its business or in any other way that the directors decide, but the money cannot be invested in CDC's shares or in the shares of any holding company of CDC.

44. TRANSMISSION ON DEATH

- (A) When a sole shareholder or a shareholder who is the last survivor of joint shareholders dies, his personal representatives will be the only people whom CDC will recognise as being entitled to his shares.
- (B) If a joint shareholder dies, the surviving joint shareholder or shareholders will be the only people whom CDC will recognise as being entitled to his shares.
- (C) However, this article does not discharge the estate of any shareholder from any liability.

45. ENTRY OF TRANSMISSION IN REGISTER

A person who becomes entitled to a share by law must provide any evidence of his entitlement which is reasonably required by the directors. The directors must note his entitlement in the register within two months of receiving such evidence.

46. PERSON ENTITLED BY TRANSMISSION MAY CHOOSE WHO BECOMES THE SHAREHOLDER

- (A) A person who becomes entitled to a share by law can either be registered as the shareholder or choose another person to become the shareholder.
- (B) If a person who is entitled to a share by law wants to be registered as a shareholder, he must deliver or send a notice to CDC saying that he has made this decision. He must sign this notice which must be in the form specified by the directors. This notice will be treated as a transfer form. All the provisions of the articles about registering transfers of shares apply to it. The directors have the same power to refuse to register a person entitled to shares by law as they would have had to refuse to register a transfer by the person who was previously entitled to the shares.

(C) If a person who is entitled to a share by law wants the share to be transferred to another person, he must do this by signing a transfer form to the person he has selected. The directors have the same power to refuse to register the person selected as they would have had to refuse to register a transfer by the person who was previously entitled to the shares.

47. RIGHTS OF PERSON ENTITLED BY TRANSMISSION

- (A) A person who is entitled to a share by law is entitled to any dividends or other money relating to the share, even though he is not registered as the shareholder. But the directors can withhold the dividend and other money until a person has been properly registered as the shareholder as laid down in these articles. They can also withhold the dividend if the person who was previously entitled to the share could have had his dividend withheld.
- (B) Unless he is registered as the shareholder, the person entitled to the share by law is not entitled to:
 - (i) receive notices of shareholders' meetings or to attend or vote at these meetings; or
 - (ii) any of the other rights and benefits of being a shareholder,

unless the directors decide to allow this.

48. INCREASE, CONSOLIDATION, SUB-DIVISION AND CANCELLATION OF SHARE CAPITAL

- (A) Subject to article 11, CDC's shareholders can increase CDC's share capital by passing an ordinary resolution. This resolution will fix the amount of the increase and the nominal value of the new shares.
- (B) CDC's shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to do any of the following:
 - (i) consolidate, or consolidate and then divide, all or any of its share capital into shares of a larger nominal value than the existing shares;
 - (ii) divide some or all of its shares into shares of a smaller nominal value than the existing shares. This is subject to the restrictions in the Companies Act. The resolution may provide that as between the holders of the divided shares different rights and restrictions of a kind which CDC can apply to new shares may apply to different divided shares; and
 - (iii) cancel any shares which have not been taken, or agreed to be taken, by anyone at the date of the resolution and reduce the amount of CDC's share capital by the amount of the cancelled shares.

49. FRACTIONS RESULTING FROM CONSOLIDATION AND SUB-DIVISIONS

If any shares are consolidated, the directors have power to deal with any fractions of shares which result from the consolidation. If the directors decide to sell any shares representing fractions, they can do so for the best price reasonably obtainable and distribute the net proceeds of sale among shareholders in proportion to their fractional

entitlements. The directors can sell those shares to anyone, including CDC, if the legislation allows, and can authorise any person to transfer or deliver the shares to the buyer. The buyer does not have to take any steps to see how any money he is paying is used and his ownership will not be affected if the sale is irregular or invalid in any way.

50. REDUCTION OF CAPITAL

Subject to article 11, CDC may pass a special resolution to reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve, any share premium account or any other undistributable reserve in any way.

51. INVESTMENT POLICY

- (A) CDC will have an investment policy to cover the conduct of CDC's investment business. The policy must be designed to achieve CDC's objective of maximising the creation and long-term growth of viable businesses in developing countries and achieving attractive returns for shareholders.
- (B) The policy must include a particular focus in the conduct of CDC's investment business on benefiting poorer countries, especially those in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia.
- (C) The directors will conduct the investment business of CDC in line with the investment policy. They will establish procedures which enable them to see whether the investment policy is being complied with by CDC and, to the extent relevant, its subsidiary undertakings.
- (D) The directors will report each year in CDC's annual report on CDC's compliance with the investment policy. This report will contain sufficient information to allow a reader to make an informed assessment of the investment business of CDC and its subsidiary undertakings as against the requirements of the investment policy.
- (E) By prior arrangement, anyone may inspect a copy of the investment policy at the office during normal business hours.
- (F) The investment policy may not be altered without first:
 - (i) shareholders approving the alteration by an ordinary resolution; and
 - (ii) the special shareholder giving its written consent to the alteration.
- (G) The rights of third parties will not be affected in any way by any failure of the directors to comply with this article or the investment policy.
- (H) CDC may engage in any activities necessary or appropriate, in the reasonable opinion of the directors, to further any one or more of the objects of CDC set out in the memorandum of association provided that any such activity is carried on, directly or indirectly, for the purposes of or otherwise in connection with CDC's business of investing assets principally in the debts and securities of entities operating, or expected to operate, in developing economies.

52. STATEMENT OF BUSINESS PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES

(A) CDC will have a statement of business principles and policies. The statement must be designed to achieve what the directors consider to be social, environmental and ethical

best practice in the conduct of CDC's and its subsidiary undertakings' business. The statement must also be designed to encourage those that CDC deals with to adhere to similar business principles and policies.

- (B) The directors will publish the statement of business principles and policies among its employees and those doing business on behalf of CDC. They will take all reasonable steps to require those individuals to conduct CDC's business in line with the statement. They will also establish procedures which enable them, to the extent reasonably possible, to see whether the statement is being complied with by CDC and, to the extent relevant, its subsidiary undertakings.
- (C) The directors will report each year in CDC's annual report on CDC's compliance with the statement of business principles and policies. This report will contain sufficient information to allow a reader to make an informed assessment of the business of CDC and, to the extent relevant, its subsidiary undertakings as against the requirements of the statement of business principles and policies.
- (D) By prior arrangement, anyone may inspect a copy of the statement of business principles and policies at the office during normal business hours.
- (E) The statement of business principles and policies may only be altered by the board. A board resolution approving any alteration must be passed by a majority vote and the majority voting in favour of the change must include at least three members of the business principles committee.
- (F) The statement of business policies and principles will be supported by guidelines which will be designed to achieve the aims set out in article 52(A). These guidelines will also be published by the directors among CDC's employees and those doing business on behalf of CDC. The guidelines to the statement of business principles and policies may be altered by the board or by the business principles committee. A board resolution approving any alteration must be passed by a majority vote and the majority voting in favour of the change must include at least three members of the business principles committee.
- (G) The rights of third parties will not be affected in any way by any failure of the directors to comply with this article, the statement of business principles and policies or the guidelines.

53. EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS

Any general meeting of CDC which is not an annual general meeting is called an extraordinary general meeting.

54. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

CDC must hold an annual general meeting each year in addition to any other general meetings held in the year. The directors will decide when and where it is to be held. The notice calling the meeting must say that the meeting is the annual general meeting. There must not be a gap of more than 15 months between one annual general meeting and the next. CDC is not required to hold an annual general meeting in 1999. CDC's first annual general meeting must be held within 18 months of the date of CDC's registration under the Companies Act.

55. CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS

The directors may call an extraordinary general meeting at any time and at any venue.

56. SEPARATE GENERAL MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDER CLASSES

If a separate general meeting of a particular class of shareholders is called otherwise than for changing the rights of the shares of that class, the provisions of these articles relating to general meetings will apply to such a meeting with any necessary changes. For the purposes of this article, a general meeting where ordinary shareholders are the only shareholders who can attend and vote in their capacity as shareholders will also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders of the ordinary shares.

57. LENGTH AND FORM OF NOTICE

- (A) At least 21 clear days' written notice must be given for every annual general meeting and for any other meeting called to pass a special resolution or to pass some other resolution of which special notice under the Companies Act has been given to CDC. For all other general meetings, at least 14 clear days' written notice must be given.
- (B) The notice for any general meeting must state:
 - (i) where the meeting is to be held;
 - (ii) the date and time of the meeting; and
 - (iii) the general nature of the business of the meeting.
- (C) All shareholders must be given notice of every general meeting. The only exception is those shareholders who are not entitled to receive a notice because of:
 - (i) a provision in these articles; or
 - (ii) the terms of issue of the shares they hold.
- (D) Notice must also be given to the auditors.

58. OMISSION OR FAILURE TO RECEIVE NOTICE

If any notice or other document relating to any meeting or other proceeding is accidentally not sent, or is not received, the meeting or other proceeding will not be invalid as a result.

59. POSTPONEMENT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

If the directors consider that it is impracticable or unreasonable to hold a general meeting on the date or at the time or place stated in the notice calling the meeting, they may move or postpone the meeting (or do both). If the directors do this, an announcement of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting will, if practicable, be published in at least two national newspapers in the United Kingdom. Notice of the business of the meeting does not need to be given again. The directors must take reasonable steps to ensure that any shareholder trying to attend the meeting at the original time and place is informed of the new arrangements. If a meeting is rearranged

in this way, proxy forms can be delivered as required by these articles, until 48 hours before the time of the rearranged meeting.

60. QUORUM

Before a general meeting starts to do business there must be a quorum present. Unless these articles say otherwise, a quorum for all purposes is two people who are entitled to vote. They may be shareholders who are personally present or proxies for shareholders and each person will count towards the quorum. If a quorum is not present, a chairman of the meeting can still be chosen or appointed and this will not be treated as part of the business of the meeting.

61. PROCEDURE IF QUORUM NOT PRESENT

- (A) This article applies if a quorum is not present within five minutes of the time fixed for a general meeting to start or within any longer period not exceeding one hour which the chairman of the meeting may decide.
- (B) If the meeting was called by shareholders it shall be dissolved. Any other meeting shall be adjourned to any day (being not less than three nor more than 28 days later), time and place stated in the notice of meeting. If the notice does not provide for this, the meeting shall be adjourned to a day (being not less than 10 nor more than 28 days later), time and place decided on by the chairman of the meeting and in this case CDC will give not less than seven clear days' notice in writing of the adjourned meeting.
- (C) One member present in person or by proxy will constitute a quorum at any adjourned meeting and any notice of an adjourned meeting will say this.

62. SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS

The directors may put in place systems and procedures, both before and during any general meeting, which they consider to be appropriate for the proper and orderly conduct of the general meeting and the safety of people attending it. This authority includes power to refuse entry to, or eject from meetings, shareholders who fail to comply with the systems and procedures.

63. CHAIRMAN OF GENERAL MEETING

- (A) CDC's chairman will be the chairman of the meeting at every general meeting, if he is willing and able to take the chair.
- (B) If CDC does not have a chairman, or if he is not willing and able to take the chair, a deputy chairman will chair the meeting if he is willing and able to take the chair. If more than one deputy chairman is present they will agree between themselves who will take the chair and if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman who has been a director longest will take the chair.
- (C) If CDC does not have a chairman or a deputy chairman, or if neither the chairman nor a deputy chairman is willing and able to chair the meeting, after waiting five minutes from the time that a meeting is due to start, the directors who are present will choose one of themselves to act as chairman of the meeting. If there is only one director present, he will be the chairman of the meeting, if he agrees.

- (D) If there is no director willing and able to be the chairman of the meeting, then the shareholders who are personally present at the meeting and entitled to vote will decide which one of them is to be the chairman of the meeting.
- (E) Nothing in these articles restricts or excludes any of the powers, or rights of a chairman of a meeting which are given by the general law.

64. ORDERLY CONDUCT

The chairman of a meeting may take any action he considers appropriate for proper and orderly conduct at a general meeting.

65. ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND SPEAK

Each director may attend and speak at any general meeting of CDC. The chairman of a meeting may also allow anyone to attend and speak where he considers that this will help the business of the meeting.

66. ADJOURNMENTS

- (A) The chairman of a meeting can adjourn the meeting, before or after it has started, and whether or not a quorum is present, if he considers that:
 - (i) there is not enough room for the number of shareholders who wish to attend the meeting;
 - (ii) the behaviour of the people present prevents, or is likely to prevent, the business of the meeting being carried out in an orderly way; or
 - (iii) an adjournment is necessary for any other reason, so that the business of the meeting can be properly carried out.

The chairman of the meeting does not need the consent of the meeting to adjourn it for any of these reasons to a time, date and place which he decides. He may also adjourn the meeting to a later time on the same day or indefinitely. If a meeting is adjourned indefinitely, the directors will fix the time, date and place of the adjourned meeting.

- (B) The chairman of a meeting can also adjourn a meeting which has a quorum present if this is agreed by the meeting. This can be to a time, date and place proposed by the chairman of the meeting or the adjournment can be indefinite. The chairman of the meeting must adjourn the meeting if the meeting directs him to. In these circumstances the meeting will decide how long the adjournment will be and where it will adjourn to. If a meeting is adjourned indefinitely, the directors will fix the time, date and place of the adjourned meeting.
- (C) A reconvened meeting can only deal with business that could have been dealt with at the meeting which was adjourned.

67. NOTICE OF ADJOURNMENT

Where a meeting is adjourned indefinitely or for more than three months, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given in the same way as was required for the original

meeting. Except where these articles require it, there is no need to give notice of the adjourned meeting or of the business to be considered there.

68. AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS

- (A) Amendments can be proposed to any resolution if they are clerical amendments or amendments to correct some other obvious error in the resolution.
- (B) No other amendments can be proposed to any special resolution or extraordinary resolution.
- (C) Amendments to an ordinary resolution which are within the scope of the resolution can be proposed if:
 - (i) notice of the proposed amendment is delivered to the office at least two working days before the date of the meeting, or adjourned meeting; or
 - (ii) the chairman of the meeting decides that the amendment is appropriate for consideration by the meeting.
- (D) No other amendment can be proposed to an ordinary resolution.
- (E) If the chairman of the meeting agrees, a person who proposes an amendment to a resolution may withdraw it before it is put to the vote.

69. AMENDMENTS RULED OUT OF ORDER

If the chairman of a meeting, acting in good faith, rules that a proposed amendment to any resolution under consideration is out of order, any error in that ruling will not affect the validity of a vote on the original resolution.

70. VOTING

Only shareholders who are present in person at a general meeting may vote on a show of hands. They will have one vote each.

Proxies may not vote on a show of hands.

On a poll vote, every shareholder present in person or by proxy will have one vote for every share he holds. This is subject to any special rights or restrictions which are given to any class of shares by, or under, these articles.

71. METHOD OF VOTING

A resolution put to the vote at any general meeting will be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is demanded when, or before, the chairman of the meeting declares the result of the show of hands.

A poll may be demanded by:

- (i) the chairman of the meeting;
- (ii) at least three shareholders at the meeting (including proxies) who are entitled to vote;

- (iii) one or more shareholders at the meeting (including proxies) who are entitled to vote and who have between them at least ten per cent. of the total votes of all shareholders (including proxies) who have the right to vote at the meeting; or
- (iv) one or more shareholders (including proxies) who have (or represent members who have) shares which allow them to vote at the meeting and on which the total amount which has been paid up on these shares is at least ten per cent. of the total sum paid up on all shares which give the right to vote at the meeting.

A demand for a poll can be withdrawn if the chairman of the meeting agrees to this. If a poll is demanded, and this demand is then withdrawn, any declaration by the chairman of the meeting of the result of a vote on that resolution by a show of hands, which was made before the poll was demanded, will stand.

72. PROCEDURE IF POLL DEMANDED

If a valid poll is demanded, the chairman of the meeting will decide when, where and how it will be carried out. The result will be treated as the decision of the meeting at which the poll was demanded, even if the poll is carried out after the meeting.

73. WHEN POLL TO BE TAKEN

If a poll is demanded on a vote to elect the chairman of the meeting, or to adjourn a meeting, it must be taken immediately at the meeting. Any other poll demanded can either be taken immediately or within 30 days from the date it was demanded and at a time and place decided on by the chairman of the meeting. It is not necessary to give notice for a poll which is not taken immediately.

74. CONTINUANCE OF OTHER BUSINESS AFTER POLL DEMAND

A demand for a poll on a particular matter will not stop a meeting from continuing to deal with other matters.

75. VOTES ON A POLL

On a poll a shareholder can vote either in person or by his proxy. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same occasion.

76. CASTING VOTE OF CHAIRMAN

Where equal votes are cast at a general meeting, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting will be entitled to an additional or casting vote.

77. REPRESENTATION OF CORPORATIONS

Where a shareholder is a corporation (including a corporation sole), it may appoint a representative to act on its behalf at any general meeting or class meeting. Where the Treasury Solicitor is a shareholder, any person authorised under section 3 of the Treasury Solicitor Act 1876 may act as its representative. A representative will be able to exercise the same powers his appointer could have exercised if it were an individual. For the purposes of these articles the appointer will be present at a meeting when the representative is present. The directors or secretary may require evidence of the representative's authority.

78. VOTES OF JOINT SHAREHOLDERS

This article applies to a share held by joint shareholders. If more than one of the joint shareholders votes, the only vote which will count is the vote of the person whose name is listed before the other voters on the register for the share.

79. VOTING ON BEHALF OF INCAPABLE MEMBER

This article applies where a shareholder is of unsound mind and a court which claims jurisdiction to protect people who are unable to manage their own affairs has made an order about the shareholder. The person appointed to act for that shareholder may vote for him. He may also exercise any other rights of the shareholder relating to meetings. This includes appointing a proxy, voting on a show of hands and voting on a poll. Before the representative does so however, he must deliver such evidence of his authority as the directors may require to the office not later than the latest time at which a proxy form must be delivered to be valid for use at the relevant meeting or on the holding of the relevant poll. If a different place for the delivery of proxy forms is specified, the evidence must instead be delivered to that address.

80. NO RIGHT TO VOTE WHERE SUMS OVERDUE ON SHARES

Unless the directors decide otherwise, a shareholder may not vote at any general meeting of CDC or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in CDC or exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings if he has not paid all amounts relating to his shares which are due at the time of the meeting.

81. OBJECTIONS OR ERRORS IN VOTING

If:

- (i) any objection to the right of any person to vote is made;
- (ii) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected; or
- (iii) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error must be raised or pointed out at the meeting (or the adjourned meeting) at which the vote objected to is cast or at which the error occurs. If a vote is not disallowed at a meeting, it is valid for all purposes and if a vote is not counted at a meeting, this will not affect the decision of the meeting. Any objection or error must be raised with the chairman of the meeting. His decision is final.

82. EXECUTION OF PROXIES

A proxy form must be in writing, signed and dated by the shareholder appointing the proxy, or by an attorney who must have written authority to sign the form. Where the proxy is appointed by a company, the proxy form should either be sealed by that company or signed by someone authorised to sign it. It must also be dated.

83. DELIVERY OF PROXIES

Proxy forms must be delivered to the office, or to any other place specified in the notice of meeting or in the form itself, at least:

- (i) 48 hours before a meeting or an adjourned meeting; or
- (ii) 24 hours before a poll is taken, if the poll is not taken on the same day as the meeting or adjourned meeting.

If a proxy form is signed by an attorney, the power of attorney or other authority relied on to sign it (or a copy which has been certified by a notary or an office copy) must be delivered with the proxy form, unless the power of attorney has already been registered with CDC.

If more than one valid proxy form is delivered in respect of the same share for use at the same meeting, the one which is delivered last (regardless of the date on which it is signed) will be treated as the valid form. If it is not possible to determine the order of delivery, none of the forms will be treated as valid.

If this article is not complied with, the proxy will not be able to act for the person who appointed him.

84. TERMINATION DATE OF PROXY

A proxy form will expire 12 months from the date the form states that it is signed on. But it will be valid if it is used at an adjourned meeting, or a poll after a meeting or an adjourned meeting even after 12 months, if it was valid for the original meeting.

85. FORM OF PROXY

A proxy form can be in any form which the directors approve. A proxy form gives the proxy the authority to demand a poll or to join others in demanding a poll and to vote on any amendment to a resolution put to the meeting.

86. CANCELLATION OF PROXY'S AUTHORITY

Any vote cast in the way a proxy form authorises or any demand for a poll made by a proxy will be valid even though:

- (i) the person who appointed the proxy has died or is of unsound mind;
- (ii) the proxy form has been revoked; or
- (iii) the authority of the person who signed the proxy form for the shareholder has been revoked.

However, this does not apply if written notice of the fact has been received at the office (or at any other place specified for the delivery of forms of proxy) at least:

- (i) 48 hours before the meeting or adjourned meeting; or
- (ii) 24 hours before a poll is taken, if the poll is not taken on the day of the meeting or adjourned meeting.

87. NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

CDC must have a minimum of five directors and a maximum of fifteen directors. But the shareholders can change these restrictions by passing an ordinary resolution.

88. AGE OF DIRECTORS

No person will be disqualified from being appointed a director or be required to stop being a director because he has reached a particular age. It is not necessary to give special notice of a resolution appointing or electing someone a director if he is 70 or more. However, any person who is of the age of 70 or more must retire in accordance with these articles. Any notice of meeting at which a resolution will be proposed to reappoint a director or to appoint a director who is of the age of 70 or more must state the fact that the relevant director is aged 70 or more. The accidental omission to make such disclosure will not make invalid the proceedings, or any appointment or re-appointment of the relevant director, at that meeting.

89. DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING QUALIFICATION

The directors are not required to hold any shares in CDC.

90. POWER OF CDC TO APPOINT DIRECTORS

Subject to these articles, CDC may elect any willing person to be a director, either as an extra director or to fill a vacancy where a director has stopped being a director for some reason by passing an ordinary resolution. The total number of directors must not exceed any maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles.

91. POWER OF DIRECTORS TO APPOINT DIRECTORS

Subject to these articles, the directors may appoint any willing person to be a director, either as an extra director or as a replacement for another director. Any director appointed in this way must retire from office at the first annual general meeting after his appointment. A director who retires in this way is not taken into account when deciding which and how many directors should retire by rotation at the annual general meeting.

92. APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS BY SPECIAL SHAREHOLDER

- (A) The special shareholder will appoint two people to serve as non-executive directors at any time. The special shareholder will write to CDC, designating two of the directors nominated by the Secretary of State pursuant to section 1(2) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999, who will be treated as the first directors appointed under this article.
- (B) If a director appointed by the special shareholder stops being a director or dies, the special shareholder will replace him within 60 clear days.
- (C) The special shareholder may remove any director appointed by him.
- (D) The special shareholder may only exercise his powers under paragraph (A), (B) or (C) after consultation with the chairman.

- (E) The special shareholder must appoint or remove directors under this article by notice in writing. The notice must be signed by or on behalf of the special shareholder. The appointment or removal will take effect on the date the notice is delivered to the office or produced at a meeting of the directors.
- (F) The directors appointed by the special shareholder will automatically stop being directors when CDC redeems the special share.

93. NUMBER TO RETIRE BY ROTATION

At every annual general meeting one third of the current directors (excluding those directors appointed by the special shareholder) must retire as directors. Where the number of directors is not three or a number divisible by three, the number of directors to retire will be the number which is nearest to and less than one third. If there are less than three directors, they will all retire.

94. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS TO RETIRE

(A) The directors to retire by rotation will be those directors who have been directors longest since they were last elected. If there are directors who were last elected on the same date, they can agree on who is to retire. If they do not agree, they must draw lots to decide.

(B) In addition:

- (i) any director who would not otherwise be required to retire by rotation at the third annual general meeting after his last appointment or re-appointment; and
- (ii) any director of the age of 70 or over who would not otherwise be required to retire,

must retire by rotation.

(C) The number and identity of directors to retire on each occasion will be determined by the composition of the directors at the start of business on the date of the notice which convenes the annual general meeting. A director will not be required to retire or be relieved from retiring because of any change in the number or identity of the directors after that time but before the close of the meeting.

95. FILLING VACANCIES

At the general meeting at which a director appointed by CDC or its board retires, shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to re-elect the director or to elect some other eligible person in his place.

96. POWER OF REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS APPOINTED BY CDC BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

In addition to any power to remove directors conferred by the legislation, CDC may pass a special resolution to remove a director appointed by CDC or its board from office even though his time in office has not ended and may (subject to these articles) elect a person to replace a director who has been removed in this way by passing an ordinary resolution.

97. PERSONS ELIGIBLE AS DIRECTORS

The only people who may be elected as directors at a general meeting are the following:

- (i) directors retiring at the meeting;
- (ii) anyone recommended by the directors; and
- (iii) anyone nominated by a shareholder (not being the person to be nominated) in the following way:

The shareholder must be entitled to vote at the meeting. He must deliver to the office not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the day of the meeting:

- (a) a letter stating that he intends to nominate another person for election as a director; and
- (b) written confirmation from that person that he is willing to be elected.

98. POSITION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

A director retiring at a general meeting retires at the end of that meeting unless the legislation requires him to retire at some other time. Where a retiring director is reelected he continues as a director without a break.

99. VACATION OF OFFICE BY DIRECTORS

Any director automatically stops being a director in any one or more of the following circumstances:

- (i) if he gives CDC a letter of resignation;
- (ii) if he has missed directors' meetings for a continuous period of five months without permission from the directors and the directors pass a resolution stating that he has ceased to be a director;
- (iii) if a bankruptcy order is made against him or he makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors;
- (iv) if he is prohibited from being a director under the legislation;
- (v) if he ceases to be a director by virtue of the legislation or he is removed from office under these articles;
- (vi) if he is or has been suffering from mental ill health and the directors pass a resolution stating that he has ceased to be a director; or
- (vii) in the case of directors appointed by the special shareholder, if all of the other directors (who must comprise at least five people) pass a resolution or sign a notice requiring him to resign.

If a director stops being a director for any reason, he will also automatically cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the directors.

100. INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

As far as the legislation allows this, CDC:

- (i) may indemnify any director or other officer of CDC against any liability;
- (ii) may purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any director or officer of CDC;
- (iii) will indemnify every director and other officer of CDC out of its own assets against any liability incurred by him as a director or other officer in defending any civil or criminal proceedings which relate to anything done or omitted, or claimed to have been done or omitted, by him as a director or other officer of CDC:
 - (a) in which judgment is given in his favour;
 - (b) in which he is acquitted; or
 - (c) in connection with any application under any legislation for relief from liability in respect of any such act or omission where relief is granted to him by the court.

CDC will not indemnify any person under this article for amounts which that person has recovered from someone else. If the director or officer could recover any amount from a third party, he must take all reasonable steps to do so, before claiming from CDC.

For the purposes of this article, no person appointed or employed by CDC as an auditor is an officer of CDC.

101. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

- (A) The directors or any committee authorised by the directors may:
 - (i) appoint a director (excluding those directors appointed by the special shareholder) to any executive position, on such terms and for such period (subject to the provisions of the Companies Act) as they think fit;
 - (ii) also terminate or vary an appointment at any time.

The directors or any committee authorised by the directors will decide how much remuneration a director appointed to an executive office will receive (whether as salary, commission, profit share or any other form of remuneration) and whether this is in addition to or in place of his fees as a director.

(B) If the directors terminate the appointment, the termination will not affect any right of CDC or the director in relation to any breach of any employment contract which may be involved in the termination.

102. DIRECTORS' FEES

The total fees paid to all of the directors (but excluding any payments made under any other provision of these articles) must not exceed:

- (i) £120,000 a year; or
- (ii) any higher sum decided on by an ordinary resolution at a general meeting.

103. ADDITIONAL REMUNERATION

The directors or any committee authorised by the directors can give special pay to any director who performs any special or extra services for CDC. This special pay can be paid either as well as, or instead of, his ordinary pay as a director. It can be paid as a lump sum, or as a salary or a combination, or in any other way.

104. EXPENSES

CDC may pay the reasonable travel, hotel and incidental expenses of each director incurred in attending and returning from general meetings, meetings of the directors or committees of the directors or any other meetings which as a director he is entitled to attend. CDC will pay all other expenses properly and reasonably incurred by each director in connection with CDC's business or in the performance of his duties as a director.

105. PENSIONS AND GRATUITIES FOR DIRECTORS

- (A) The directors or any committee authorised by the directors may decide whether to provide pensions or other benefits to any director or former director of CDC, or any relation or dependant of such a person. However, if the directors want to provide a benefit to a director or former director who has not held an executive post or place of profit in CDC or in a subsidiary undertaking or former subsidiary undertaking of CDC or in any former owner of the business of CDC or any subsidiary undertaking of CDC, CDC must also pass an ordinary resolution to approve the payment.
- (B) A director or former director will not be accountable to CDC or the shareholders for any benefit provided pursuant to this article. Anyone receiving such a benefit will not be disqualified from being or becoming a director of CDC. This article does not limit any of the powers given to the directors by the other articles, nor does it affect the directors' rights to receive fees and remuneration under any other article.

106. PERMITTED INTERESTS AND VOTING

- (A) If the legislation and these articles allow and he has disclosed the nature and extent of his interest to the directors, a director can do any one or more of the following:
 - (i) have any kind of interest in any existing or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with or involving CDC;
 - (ii) have any kind of interest in any existing or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with or involving another company in which CDC has some interest:
 - (iii) hold any position within, or be a shareholder of, any company in which CDC has an interest; and
 - (iv) hold any other position (other than auditor) in CDC as well as being a director;

- (B) A director does not have to hand over to CDC any benefit he receives as a result of anything allowed under paragraph (A).
- (C) Unless these articles say otherwise, a director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal in which he has an interest and which he knows is material. For this purpose, interests of a person who is connected with a director are added to the interests of the director himself. Interests purely as a result of an interest in CDC's shares, debentures or other securities are disregarded. A director may not be included in the quorum of a meeting in relation to any resolution he is not allowed to vote on.
- (D) However, a director can vote, and be counted in the quorum, on any resolution about any of the following things, as long as the only material interest he has in it is included in the following list:
 - (i) a resolution about giving him, or any other person, any security or any indemnity for any money which he, or that other person, has lent at the request, or for the benefit, of CDC, any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiary undertakings;
 - (ii) a resolution about giving him, or any other person, any security or any indemnity for any liability which he, or that other person, has incurred at the request, or for the benefit of, CDC, any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiary undertakings;
 - (iii) a resolution about giving any security or any indemnity to any other person for a debt or obligation which is owed by CDC, any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiary undertakings, to that other person, if the director has taken responsibility for some or all of that debt or obligation. The director can take this responsibility by giving a guarantee, indemnity or security;
 - (iv) a resolution about any proposal relating to an offer of any shares or debentures or other securities for subscription or purchase by CDC, any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiary undertakings, if the director takes part because he is a shareholder, debentures or other securities, or if he takes part in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of the offer;
 - (v) a resolution about any proposal involving any other company if the director (together with any person connected with the director), has a direct or indirect interest of any kind (including an interest by holding any position in that company, or by being a shareholder of that company). This does not apply if he knows that he and any persons connected with him hold an interest in shares representing one per cent. or more of:
 - (a) any class of equity share capital of that company; or
 - (b) the voting rights in that company.

Any of these interests of one per cent, or more are treated for the purposes of this paragraph (D) as being material interests;

(vi) any arrangement for the benefit of employees of CDC, any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiary undertakings which only gives him benefits

- which are also generally given to the employees to whom the arrangement relates; or
- (vii) a resolution about any proposal relating to any insurance which CDC can buy and renew for the benefit of directors or of a group of people which includes directors.
- (E) In addition, a director appointed by the special shareholder can vote, and be counted in the quorum, on any resolution involving a contract to be made with any person acting on behalf of the Crown or any company controlled or directed by a person acting on behalf of the Crown.
- (F) This paragraph (F) applies if the directors are considering proposals about appointing two or more directors to positions with CDC or any company in which CDC is interested. It also applies if the directors are considering setting or changing the terms of their appointment. These proposals can be split up to deal with each director separately. If this is done, each director can vote and be included in the quorum for each resolution, except the one concerning him. But he cannot vote if the resolution relates to appointing another director to a position with a company which CDC is interested in if he has an interest of one per cent. or more in that company (in the manner described in paragraph (D)).
- (G) If any question comes up at a meeting about whether a director has a material interest, or whether he can vote, and the director does not agree to abstain from voting on the issue, the question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting (or, in the case of the chairman of the meeting, to the deputy chairman). The chairman of the meeting's or deputy chairman's ruling about any other director is final and conclusive, unless the nature and extent of the director's interests have not been fairly disclosed to the directors.
- (H) For the purpose of this article:
 - (i) a general notice given to the directors that a director has an interest of the kind stated in the notice in any contract, transaction or arrangement involving any company or person identified in the notice is treated as a standing disclosure that the director has that interest; and
 - (ii) interests which are unknown to the director and which it is unreasonable to expect him to know about are ignored.

107. GENERAL POWERS OF CDC VESTED IN DIRECTORS

- (A) The directors will manage CDC's business. They can exercise all CDC's powers. But this does not apply where these articles or the legislation say that powers can only be used by the shareholders voting to do so at a general meeting. The general management powers under this article are not limited in any way by specific powers given to the directors by other articles.
- (B) The directors are, however, subject to:
 - (i) the provisions of the legislation;
 - (ii) the requirements of these articles; and

(iii) any regulations laid down by the shareholders by passing a special resolution at a general meeting.

However, if the shareholders lay down any regulation relating to something which the directors have already done which was within their powers, that regulation cannot invalidate the directors' previous action.

108. BORROWING POWERS

- (A) The directors may exercise all CDC's powers as may be necessary for the business of CDC:
 - (i) to borrow money;
 - (ii) to mortgage or charge all or any of CDC's undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital;
 - (iii) to issue debentures and other securities; and
 - (iv) to give security for any debt, liability or obligation of CDC or of any third party.
- (B) (i) The directors will limit the total borrowings of CDC and, so far as they are able, its subsidiary undertakings to ensure that the total amount of the group's borrowings does not exceed £2,000,000,000.
 - (ii) However, CDC may pass an ordinary resolution allowing such borrowings to exceed such limit.
 - (iii) Any borrowings owed by one member of the group to another will not be taken into account for the purposes of the calculation of the group's total borrowings.

(C) Borrowings

When calculating the group's borrowings, the directors will include not only borrowings but also the following (unless these have already been included in borrowings):

- (i) the nominal value of any issued share capital and the principal amount of any debentures or borrowed money of any person where:
 - (a) a member of the group does not beneficially own such share capital or debenture or borrowed money; and
 - (b) either such share capital is not equity share capital or a member of the group has given a guarantee or indemnity for the redemption or repayment of any money due in relation to such debenture or borrowed money or a member of the group may have to buy such share capital;
- (ii) the amount outstanding under any acceptance credits opened for or in favour of any member of the group;

- (iii) the principal amount of any debenture (whether secured or unsecured) issued by any member of the group which is not beneficially owned by any other member of the group;
- (iv) the principal amount of any preference share capital of any subsidiary undertaking not owned by any member of the group;
- (v) any fixed or minimum premium payable on the final repayment of any borrowing or deemed borrowing;
- (vi) any liability under any finance lease, deferred purchase consideration arrangements or any other arrangement or instrument having the commercial effect of the borrowing or raising of money; and
- (vii) any guarantee, indemnity or other assurance against financial loss given by the company in respect of borrowings.

However, the directors will not include the following items in the borrowings:

- (viii) amounts borrowed by any member of the group to repay some or all of any other borrowings of any member of the group (but this exclusion will only apply if the original debt is discharged within six months from the new borrowing);
- (ix) amounts borrowed by any member of the group subordinated to the claims of CDC's other creditors in issue from time to time;
- (x) amounts borrowed by any member of the group to finance any contract where part of the price receivable by any member of the group is guaranteed or insured by the Export Credits Guarantee Department or any other similar government department or agency (but this exclusion will only apply up to an amount equal to the amount guaranteed or insured); or
- (xi) amounts borrowed by an undertaking which became a subsidiary undertaking of CDC after the date of the last audited balance sheet (but this exclusion will only apply up to an amount equal to the amount of borrowings of the undertaking at the time immediately after it became a subsidiary undertaking).
- (D) Any foreign currency amounts will be translated into sterling when calculating total borrowings. The exchange rate applied will be the exchange rate on:
 - (i) the last business day before the date of the calculation; or
 - (ii) the last business day before the date of the audited balance sheet calculation,

whichever exchange rate produces the lower figure.

The exchange rate will be taken as the spot rate in London which is recommended by a London clearing bank (chosen by the directors for this purpose) as the most appropriate rate for buying the relevant currency for sterling on the relevant day.

If the directors cannot obtain a recommendation the exchange rate will be taken to be any rate quoted to the directors which they reasonably believe to be the most appropriate.

- (E) The audited balance sheet of CDC will be taken as the audited balance sheet of CDC prepared for the purposes of the legislation. However, if an audited consolidated balance sheet relating to CDC and its subsidiary undertakings has been prepared for the same financial year, the audited consolidated balance sheet will be used instead. In that case, all references to reserves and profit and loss account will be taken to be references to consolidated reserves and consolidated profit and loss account respectively. Any amounts relating to outside interests in subsidiary undertakings will also be excluded. The first audited balance sheet of CDC prepared for the purpose of the legislation will be a restatement of the final audited balance sheet prepared for the purpose of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978 with such adjustments as CDC's auditors consider appropriate.
- (F) CDC may from time to time change the accounting convention applied in the preparation of the audited balance sheet, but any new convention applied must comply with the requirements of the legislation. If CDC prepares a supplementary audited balance sheet applying a different convention from the main audited balance sheet, the main audited balance sheet will be taken as the audited balance sheet for the purposes of the calculations under these articles.
- (G) The group will be taken as CDC and its subsidiary undertakings (if any).
- (H) A certificate or report by CDC's auditors:
 - (i) as to the amount of any borrowings; or
 - (ii) to the effect that the limit imposed by this article has not been or will not be exceeded at any particular time,

will be conclusive evidence of that amount or that fact.

109. POWERS OF ATTORNEY

Subject to articles 52 and 120(E);

- (A) the directors can appoint anyone as CDC's attorneys by granting a power of attorney or by authorising them in some other way. The attorneys can either be appointed directly by the directors or the directors can give someone else the power to select attorneys. The directors or the persons who are authorised by them to select attorneys can decide on the purposes, powers, authorities and discretions of attorneys. But they cannot give an attorney any power, authority or discretion which the directors do not have under these articles.
- (B) the directors can decide how long a power of attorney will last for and attach any conditions to it. The power of attorney can include any provisions which the directors decide on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the attorney. The power of attorney can allow the attorney to grant any or all of his power, authority or discretion to any other person.
- (C) the directors may:
 - (i) delegate any of their authority, powers or discretions to any manager or agent of CDC;

- (ii) allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
- (iii) remove any people they have appointed in any of these ways; and
- (iv) cancel or change anything that they have delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who has not had any notice of any cancellation or change.

Any appointment or delegation by the directors which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the directors.

(D) the ability of the directors to delegate under this article applies to all their powers and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers being exercised by the directors or by a committee authorised by the directors while other articles do not.

110. DELEGATION TO INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS

Subject to articles 52 and 120(E);

- (A) the directors can give a director any of the powers which they have jointly as directors. These powers can be given on terms and conditions decided on by the directors either in parallel with, or in place of, the powers of the directors acting jointly.
- (B) the directors can change the basis on which such powers are given or withdraw such powers. But if a person deals with an individual director in good faith without knowledge of the change or withdrawal, he will not be affected by it.
- (C) the ability of the directors to delegate under this article applies to all their powers and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers being exercised by the directors or by a committee authorised by the directors while other articles do not.

111. REGISTERS

CDC may use the powers given by the legislation to keep an overseas, local or other register. The directors may make and change any regulations previously made by them relating to any of such registers, as long as the legislation allows this.

112. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES

The directors may exercise the powers under the legislation to make provision for the benefit of employees or former employees of CDC or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or transfer of the whole or part of the business of CDC or that subsidiary.

113. CONDUCT OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

The directors may decide when to have meetings and how they will be conducted. They may also adjourn their meetings. A directors' meeting can be called by any director or by the secretary. The secretary must also call a directors' meeting if asked to by a director.

114. NOTICE OF DIRECTORS' MEETING

Directors' meetings are called by serving a notice on all the directors. Notice can be given personally, by word of mouth or in writing. A director who is out of the United Kingdom is not entitled to be given notice of any directors' meetings. Any director can waive notice of any directors' meeting, including one which has already taken place.

115. QUORUM

Five directors are a quorum.

116. DIRECTORS BELOW MINIMUM THROUGH VACANCIES

The directors can continue to act even if one or more of them stops being a director. But if the number of directors falls below the minimum which applies under these articles (including any change to that minimum number approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders), the remaining director(s) will, as soon as is convenient:

- (i) either appoint further director(s) to make up the shortfall; or
- (ii) convene a general meeting for the sole purpose of appointing extra director(s) but not for any other purpose.

If no director or directors are willing or able to act under this article, any two shareholders can call a general meeting to appoint extra directors(s).

117. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN

The directors can elect any director appointed by CDC or the board as chairman or as one or more deputy chairman for such periods as the directors decide. No director appointed by the special shareholder may be appointed chairman or deputy chairman. If the chairman is at a directors' meeting, he will chair it. In his absence, the chair will be taken by a deputy chairman, if one is present. If more than one deputy chairman is present, the deputy chairman longest in office will take the chair, unless the directors decide otherwise. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman present within five minutes of the time when the directors' meeting is due to start, the directors who are present can choose which one of them will be the chairman of the meeting.

118. COMPETENCE IN MEETINGS

A directors' meeting at which a quorum is present can exercise all the powers and discretions of the directors.

119. VOTING

Matters to be decided at a directors' meeting will be decided by a majority vote, subject to article 52. If votes are equal, the chairman of the meeting has a second, casting vote, subject to article 52.

120. DELEGATION TO COMMITTEES; BUSINESS PRINCIPLES COMMITTEE

Subject to articles 52 and 120(E);

- (A) The directors may delegate any of their powers or discretions to committees of one or more directors. If the directors have delegated any power or discretion to a committee, any references in these articles to using that power or discretion include its use by the committee. Subject to paragraph E below, any committee must comply with any regulations laid down by the directors. These regulations can require or allow people who are not directors to be members of the committee, and can give voting rights to such people. But:
 - (i) there must be more directors on a committee than persons who are not directors; and
 - (ii) a resolution of the committee is only effective if a majority of the members of the committee present at the time of the resolution were directors.
- (B) Unless the directors decide not to allow this, any committee may sub-delegate any of its powers or discretions to sub-committees. Reference in these articles to committees include sub-committees permitted under this article.
- (C) If a committee consists of more than one person, the articles which regulate directors' meetings and their procedure will also apply to committee meetings (if they can apply to committee meetings), unless these are inconsistent with any regulations for the committee which have been laid down under this article.
- (D) The ability of the directors to delegate under this article applies to all their powers and discretions and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers and discretions being exercised by committees authorised by directors while other articles do not.
- (E) There will be a business principles committee. This committee will consist of four non-executive directors, two of whom will be directors appointed by the special shareholder. The directors will delegate to the committee the power, authority and discretion to:
 - (i) monitor the operation and application, and review the content of, the statement of business principles and policies and the related guidelines; and
 - (ii) make recommendations to the board concerning such operation, application and content.

This delegation will not be capable of being revoked by the directors. Three directors, of whom two are directors appointed by the special shareholder, are a quorum. Questions arising at a meeting of the business principles committee are to be decided by a majority of votes.

(F) Any appointment or delegation under this article may be made on such terms and subject to such conditions as the directors think fit. The directors may remove any person appointed under this article and may revoke or vary any delegation. Third parties dealing in good faith will not be affected by the revocation or variation.

121. PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

All or any of the directors or members of a committee may take part in a meeting of the directors or a committee by way of a conference telephone or any communication equipment which allows everybody to take part in the meeting by being able to hear each of the other people at the meeting and by being able to speak to all of them at the

same time. A person taking part in this way will be treated as being present at the meeting and will be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum. Such meetings will be treated as taking place where most of the participants are or where the chairman of the meeting is if no more than one is in each place.

122. RESOLUTION IN WRITING

This article applies to a written resolution which is signed by all of the directors who at the time are entitled to receive notice of a directors' meeting and who would be entitled to vote on the resolution at a directors' meeting, where such directors are together sufficient in number to form a quorum. A written resolution will be valid at the time it is signed by the last director. This kind of resolution is just as valid and effective as a resolution passed by those directors at a meeting which is properly called and held. The resolution can be passed using several copies of a document if each document is signed by one or more directors. These copies can be fax copies.

123. MINUTES

The board shall cause minutes to be made in books kept for the purpose:

- (a) of all appointments of officers made by the board or the Special Shareholder;
- (b) of the names of all the directors present at each meeting of the board and of any committee; and
- (c) of all resolutions and proceedings of all meetings of CDC and of any class of members, and of the board and of any committee.

124. VALIDITY OF ACTS OF DIRECTORS OR COMMITTEE

Everything which is done by any directors' meeting, or by a committee of the directors, or by a person acting as a director, or as a member of a committee, will be valid even if it is discovered later that any director, or person acting as a director, was not properly appointed. This also applies if it is discovered later that anyone was disqualified from being a director, or had ceased to be a director or was not entitled to vote. In any of these cases, anything done will be as valid as if there was no defect or irregularity of the kind referred to in this article.

125. APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF THE SECRETARY

The directors can appoint the secretary for such term and upon such conditions as they see fit; and any secretary so appointed can be removed by the directors. A company secretary must be qualified or eligible under s.286 of Companies Act 1985.

126. OFFICIAL SEALS

The directors can use all the powers given by the legislation relating to official seals.

127. USE OF SEALS

- (A) The directors must arrange for every seal of CDC to be kept safe.
- (B) A seal may only be used with the authority of the directors or a committee authorised by the directors.

- (C) Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, every document which is sealed using the common seal, must be signed by one director and the secretary, or by two directors or by any other person or persons authorised by the directors.
- (D) Any document to which the official seal is applied need not be signed, unless the directors decide otherwise or legislation requires otherwise.
- (E) The directors may resolve that the requirement for any counter-signature in this article may be dispensed with on any occasion or that the seal or any counter-signature may be printed by some mechanical, electronic or photographic method.

128. DECLARATION OF DIVIDENDS BY CDC

CDC's shareholders can declare dividends by passing an ordinary resolution. No such dividend can exceed the amount recommended by the directors.

129. PAYMENT OF INTERIM AND FIXED DIVIDENDS BY DIRECTORS

Subject to the legislation, if the directors consider that the financial position of CDC justifies such payments, they can:

- (i) pay the fixed dividends on any class of shares carrying a fixed dividend on the dates prescribed for the payment of those dividends; and
- (ii) pay interim dividends on any class of shares of any amounts and on any dates and for any periods that they decide.

If the directors act in good faith, they will not be liable for any loss that any shareholders may suffer because a lawful dividend has been paid on other shares which rank equally with or behind their shares.

130. CALCULATION AND CURRENCY OF DIVIDENDS

- (A) All dividends will be divided and paid in proportions based on the amounts which have been paid up on the shares during any period for which the dividend is paid. Sums which have been paid up in advance of calls will not count as paid up for this purpose. If the terms of any share say that it will be entitled to a dividend as if it were a fully paid up, or partly paid up, share from a particular date (in the past or future), it will be entitled to a dividend on this basis. This article applies unless the rights attached to any shares, or the terms of any shares, say otherwise.
- (B) Unless the rights attached to any shares, or the terms of any shares, or these articles say otherwise, a dividend or any other money payable in respect of a share can be paid in whatever currency the directors decide.

131. AMOUNTS DUE ON SHARES MAY BE DEDUCTED FROM DIVIDENDS

If a shareholder owes CDC any money for calls on shares or money in any other way relating to his shares, the directors may deduct any of this money from any dividend or other money payable to the shareholder on or in respect of any share held by him. Money deducted in this way can be used to pay amounts owed to CDC in connection with the shares.

132. NO INTEREST ON DIVIDENDS

Unless the rights attached to any shares, or the terms of any shares say otherwise, no dividend or other sum payable by CDC on or in respect of its shares carries a right to interest from CDC.

133. PAYMENT PROCEDURE

- (A) Any dividend or other money payable in cash relating to a share can be paid by:
 - (i) cheque or warrant payable to the shareholder who is entitled to it or to someone else named in a written instruction from the shareholder (or all joint shareholders);
 - (ii) inter-bank transfer or by other electronic means directly to an account with a bank or other financial institution (or other organisations operating deposit accounts if allowed by CDC) in the United Kingdom named in a written instruction from the person entitled to receive the payment under this article;
 - (iii) some other way agreed between the shareholder (or all joint shareholders) and CDC.
- (B) For joint shareholders or persons jointly entitled to shares by law, CDC can rely on a receipt for a dividend or other money paid on shares from any one of them on behalf of all of them.
- (C) Cheques and warrants are sent, and payment in any other way is made, at the risk of the person who is entitled to the money. CDC is treated as having paid a dividend if the cheque or warrant is cleared.

134. UNCASHED DIVIDENDS

- (A) CDC may stop sending dividend payments through the post, or cease using any other method of payment (including payment through CREST), for any dividend if:
 - (i) for two consecutive dividends:
 - (a) the dividend payments sent through the post have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during the period for which they are valid; or
 - (b) the payments by any other method have failed; or
 - (ii) for any one dividend:
 - (a) the dividend payment sent through the post has been returned undelivered or remains uncashed during the period for which it is valid; or
 - (b) the payment by any other method has failed,

and reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new address or account of the registered shareholder.

(B) CDC will recommence sending dividend payments if requested in writing by the shareholder, or the person entitled by law to the relevant shares.

135. FORFEITURE OF UNCLAIMED DIVIDENDS

The directors can invest any dividends or other amounts payable on a share which have not been claimed until the dividends or other amounts are claimed or the directors can use them in any other way for CDC's benefit until they are claimed. CDC will not be a trustee of the money and will not be liable to pay interest on it. If a dividend has not been claimed for 12 years after being declared or becoming due for payment, it will be forfeited and go back to CDC.

136. DIVIDENDS NOT IN CASH

If recommended by the directors, CDC may pass an ordinary resolution that a dividend be paid wholly or partly by distributing specific assets (and, in particular, paid up shares or debentures of any other company). Where any difficulty arises on such a distribution, the directors may resolve it as they decide. For example, they may:

- (i) authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions of shares;
- (ii) ignore any fractions of shares;
- (iii) value assets for distribution purposes;
- (iv) pay cash of a similar value to adjust the rights of shareholders; and/or
- (v) vest any assets in trustees for the benefit of more than one shareholder.

137. OFFER OF EXTRA SHARES INSTEAD OF DIVIDENDS

The directors can offer ordinary shareholders the right to choose to receive extra ordinary shares, which are credited as fully paid up, instead of some or all of their cash dividend. Before they can do this, shareholders must have passed an ordinary resolution authorising the directors to make this offer.

- (i) The ordinary resolution can apply to a particular dividend or dividends. Or it can apply to some or all of the dividends which may be declared in the period up to and including the annual general meeting which is held in the fifth year after the ordinary resolution is passed.
- (ii) A shareholder will be entitled to ordinary shares whose total "relevant value" is as near as possible to the cash dividend he would have received, but not more than it. The relevant value of a share is the average value of CDC's ordinary shares for the five dealing days starting from, and including, the day when the shares are first quoted "ex dividend". This average value is worked out from the average middle market quotations for CDC's ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange, as published in its Daily Official List.
- (iii) The ordinary resolution may require that the relevant value is worked out in some different way. A certificate or report from the auditors stating the relevant value of a share for any dividend will be conclusive evidence.

- (iv) After the directors have decided how many new shares ordinary shareholders will be entitled to, they can notify them in writing of their right to opt for new shares. This notice should also say how, where and when shareholders must notify CDC if they wish to receive new shares. Where shareholders have opted to receive new shares in place of all future dividends, if new shares are available, CDC will notify them of a right to opt for new shares. No shareholders will receive a fraction of a share. The directors can decide how to deal with any fraction left over. CDC can, if the directors decide, have the benefit of these left-over fractions.
- (v) The directors can also offer shareholders the right to request new shares instead of cash for all future dividends (if a share alternative is available), until they tell CDC that they no longer wish to receive new shares.
- (vi) The directors can exclude or restrict the right to opt for new shares, or make any other arrangements where they decide that this is necessary or convenient to deal with any of the following legal or practical problems:
 - (a) problems relating to laws of any territory; or
 - (b) problems relating to the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory.
- (vii) If a shareholder has opted to receive new shares, no dividend on the shares for which he has opted to receive new shares (which are called the "elected shares"), will be declared or payable. Instead, new ordinary shares will be allotted on the basis set out earlier in this article. To do this, the directors will convert into capital the sum equal to the total nominal amount of the new ordinary shares to be allotted. They will use this sum to pay up in full the appropriate number of new ordinary shares. These will then be allotted and distributed to the holders of the elected shares on the basis set out above. The sum to be converted into capital can be taken from:
 - (a) any amount which is then in any reserve or fund (including the share premium account, any capital redemption reserve and the profit and loss account); or
 - (b) any other sum which is available to be distributed.
- (viii) The new ordinary shares will rank equally in all respects with the existing fully paid up ordinary shares, and the new shares will be fully entitled to all future dividends on ordinary shares. But, they will not be entitled to share in the dividend from which they arose, or to have new shares instead of that dividend.
- (ix) The directors can decide that new shares will not be available in place of any cash dividend. They can decide this at any time before new shares are allotted in place of such dividend, whether before or after shareholders have opted to receive new shares.

138. POWER TO CAPITALISE RESERVES AND FUNDS

(A) If recommended by the directors, CDC's shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to capitalise any sum:

- (i) which is part of any of CDC's reserves (including premiums received when any shares were issued, capital redemption reserves or other undistributable reserves); or
- (ii) which CDC is holding as net profits.
- (B) Unless the ordinary resolution states otherwise, the directors will use the sum which is capitalised by setting it aside for the ordinary shareholders on the register at the close of business on the day the resolution is passed (or another date stated in the resolution or fixed as stated in the resolution) and in the same proportions as the ordinary shareholders' entitlement to dividends (or in other proportions stated in the resolution or fixed as stated in the resolution). The sum set aside may be used:
 - (i) to pay up some or all of any amount on any issued shares which has not already been called, or paid in advance; or
 - (ii) to pay up in full unissued shares, debentures or other securities of CDC which would then be allotted and distributed, credited as fully paid, to shareholders.

However, a share premium account, a capital redemption reserve, or any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may only be used to pay up in full CDC's unissued shares.

(C) The directors can appoint any person to sign any contract with CDC on behalf of those who are entitled to shares, debentures or other securities under the resolution. Such a contract is binding on all concerned.

139. SETTLEMENT OF DIFFICULTIES IN DISTRIBUTION OF CAPITALISED RESERVES

If any difficulty arises in connection with any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund, the directors can resolve it in any way which they decide. For example, they can deal with entitlements to fractions of shares by deciding that the benefit of fractions belong to CDC or that fractions are ignored or deal with fractions in some other way.

140. RESTRICTIONS ON DIVIDENDS

All dividends must be paid out of profits available for distribution. If CDC gives notice under section 266(1) of the Companies Act of its intention to carry on business as an investment company, CDC must not distribute its capital profits (within the meaning of section 266 of the Companies Act) in the period between the giving of the notice and its revocation. This restriction does not apply to CDC redeeming or purchasing its shares in accordance with section 160 or 162 of the Companies Act.

141. POWER TO CHOOSE ANY RECORD DATE

(A) This article applies to any dividend on any shares, or any distribution, allotment or issue to any of the shareholders. This can be paid or made to the registered shareholder or shareholders, or to anyone entitled in any other way, at the close of business on a particular day. It will be based on the number of shares registered on that day, even if this is before any resolution to authorise what is being done was passed.

- (B) This article applies whether what is being done is the result of a resolution of the directors, or a resolution at a general meeting. The date can be before the dividend, allotment or issue is to be paid or made, or before any relevant resolution was passed. The rights attaching to any shares, and the terms of any shares, override this article if they are inconsistent with it.
- (C) This article does not affect the rights between past and present shareholders to payments and so on.

142. RECORDS TO BE KEPT

The directors must ensure that proper accounting records that comply with the legislation are kept to record and explain CDC's transactions and show its financial position with reasonable accuracy.

143. INSPECTION OF RECORDS

A shareholder is not entitled to inspect any of CDC's books or papers unless:

- (i) the legislation or a proper court order gives him that right;
- (ii) the directors authorise him to do so; or
- (iii) the shareholders authorise him to do so by ordinary resolution.

144. SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CDC may send summary financial statements to its shareholders instead of copies of its full reports and accounts.

145. SERVICE OF NOTICES

- (A) CDC may deliver or serve any notice or other document, including a share certificate, to or on a shareholder:
 - (i) personally;
 - (ii) by addressing it to him and posting it to, or leaving it at, the shareholder's registered address;
 - (iii) through CREST, where the notice or document relates to CREST shares; or
 - (iv) as authorised in writing by the relevant shareholder.
- (B) Where there are joint shareholders, the notice or other document may be delivered to or served on any one of the joint shareholders and will be treated as having been delivered or served to or on all the joint shareholders.

146. RECORDED DATE FOR SERVICE

Where CDC serves or delivers notices or documents to shareholders, it may do so by reference to the shareholders' register as it stands at any time not more than 15 days before the date the notice or document is served or delivered. Any change of details on the register after that time will not invalidate the service or delivery and CDC is not

obliged to send the same notice or document to any person entered on the shareholders' register after the date selected by CDC.

147. SHAREHOLDERS RESIDENT ABROAD

If a shareholder's address on the register is outside the United Kingdom, he can give CDC a United Kingdom address to which notices or other documents can be served on him. If he does, he is entitled to have notices or other documents served on him at that address. Otherwise, he is not entitled to receive any notices or other documents from CDC.

148. SERVICE OF NOTICES ON PERSONS ENTITLED BY TRANSMISSION

This article applies where a shareholder has died, or become bankrupt or is in liquidation, but is still registered as a shareholder. It applies whether he is registered as a sole or joint shareholder. A person who is entitled to that shareholder's shares by law and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the directors, can give a United Kingdom address for service of notices and other documents. If this is done, notices and other documents must be sent to that address. Otherwise, if any notice or other document is served on the shareholder named on the register, or sent to him in accordance with these articles, this will be valid despite his death, bankruptcy or liquidation. This applies even if CDC knew about these things. If notices or other documents are served or sent in accordance with this article, there is no need to send them to, or serve them in any other way, on any other people who may be involved.

149. WHEN NOTICES DEEMED SERVED

- (A) If a notice or document is sent by CDC by post, it is treated as being served or delivered the day after it was posted. In proving that a notice or document was served or delivered, it is sufficient to show that the envelope was properly addressed and put into the postal system with first class postage paid.
- (B) If a notice or document is left by CDC at a shareholder's registered address, it is treated as being served or delivered on the day it was left.
- (C) If a notice is sent through CREST, it is treated as being served or delivered when CDC, or any CREST participant acting for CDC, sends the issuer-instruction relating to the notice.
- (D) If a notice or document is served or delivered by CDC by any other means authorised in writing by a shareholder, it is treated as being served or delivered when CDC has done what it was authorised to do by that shareholder for service or delivery.

150. NOTICE WHEN POST NOT AVAILABLE

If a general meeting cannot be called by sending notices through the post because the postal service in the United Kingdom or some part of the United Kingdom is suspended or restricted, the directors may call the meeting by publishing a notice in at least one United Kingdom national newspaper (or, if the postal service is only restricted or suspended in part of the United Kingdom, in one or more local newspapers having general circulation in that area). Notice published in this way will be treated as being properly served on shareholders who are entitled to receive it on the day the advertisement appears. If it becomes practicable to send notices by post again at least

six clear working days before the meeting, the directors will send a copy of the notice by post to those entitled to receive it by way of confirmation.

151. NOTICE TO THE CROWN

All notices required by these articles to be given to the Crown, shall be given to the Secretary of State for International Development at the Department for International Development, 94 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL, or at such other address, or to such other emanation of the Crown, as the Secretary of State for International Development may specify in writing to the company secretary of CDC at CDC's registered office.

152. PRESUMPTION WHERE DOCUMENTS DESTROYED

- (A) CDC may destroy or delete:
 - (i) all transfer forms or Operator-instructions transferring shares, and documents sent to support a transfer, and any other documents which were the basis for making an entry on the register, after six years from the date of registration;
 - (ii) all dividend payment instructions and notifications of a change of address or name, after two years from the date these were registered; and
 - (iii) all cancelled share certificates, after one year from the date they were cancelled.
- (B) If CDC destroys or deletes a document under this article, it is conclusively treated as having been a valid and effective document in accordance with CDC's records relating to the document. Any action of CDC in dealing with the document in accordance with its terms before it was destroyed or deleted is conclusively treated as properly taken.
- (C) This article only applies to documents which are destroyed or deleted in good faith and where CDC is not on notice of any claim to which the document may be relevant.
- (D) This article does not make CDC liable:
 - (i) if it destroys or deletes a document earlier than referred to in paragraph (A); or
 - (ii) if CDC would not be liable if this article did not exist.
- (E) This article applies whether a document is destroyed, deleted or disposed of in some other way.

153. DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS OTHERWISE THAN IN CASH

If CDC is wound up (whether the liquidation is voluntary, under supervision of the court or by the court), the liquidator can, with the authority of a special resolution passed by the shareholders, divide among the shareholders the whole or any part of the assets of CDC. This applies whether the assets consist of property of one kind or different kinds. For this purpose, the liquidator can set such value as he considers fair upon any property and decide how such division is carried out as between shareholders or different groups of shareholders. The liquidator can transfer any part of the assets to trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of shareholders as the liquidator, acting under

that resolution, decides. However, no shareholder can be compelled to accept any shares or other property under this article which carries a liability.

GLOSSARY

About the Glossary

This Glossary is to help readers understand the company's memorandum and articles. Words are explained as they are used in the memorandum and articles - they might mean different things in other documents. This Glossary is not legally part of the memorandum or articles, and it does not affect their meaning. The definitions are intended to be a general guide - they are not precise. Words and expressions which are printed in both **bold** and *italic* in a definition have their own legal definition as well as a more general explanation of their meaning which is contained in this Glossary.

adjourn Where a meeting breaks up, to be continued at a later time or day, at the same or a different place.

allot When new shares are allotted, they are set aside for the person they are intended for. This will normally be after the person has agreed to pay for a new share, or has become entitled to a new share for any other reason. As soon as a share is allotted, that person has the right to have his name put on the register of shareholders. When he has been registered, the share has also been issued.

asset Anything which is of any value to its owner.

attorney An attorney is a person who has been appointed to act for another person. The person is appointed by a formal document, called a "power of attorney".

authorised share capital. The total number of shares which a company has the potential, under its memorandum of association, to have in issue at any time. Authorised share capital includes all the shares which a company has in issue at any time as well as any shares which have been authorised by a shareholder's meeting but are not yet issued (whether or not authority to issue them has been given under the company's articles).

brokerage Commission which is paid to a broker by a company issuing shares where the broker's clients have applied for shares.

call A call to pay money which is due on shares which has not yet been paid. This happens if the company issues shares which are partly paid, where money remains to be paid to the company for the shares. The money which has not been paid can be "called" for. If all the money to be paid on a share has been paid, the share is called a "fully paid share".

capitalise To convert some or all of the reserves of a company into capital (such as shares).

capital redemption reserve A reserve which a company may have to set up to maintain the level of its capital base when shares are redeemed or bought back.

certificated form A shareholder holds a share or other security in certificated form if it is not able to be held in uncertificated form or, if it is able to be held in uncertificated form but that shareholder has requested that a certificate be issued for that share or other security (see also uncertificated form).

company representative If a corporation owns shares, it can appoint a company representative to attend a shareholders' meeting to speak and vote for it.

consolidate When shares are consolidated, they are combined with other shares - for example, three £1 shares might be consolidated into one new £3 share.

debenture A typical debenture is a long-term borrowing by a company. The loan usually has to be repaid at a fixed date in the future and carries a fixed rate of interest.

declare When a dividend is declared, it becomes due to be paid.

entitled to a share by law In some situations, a person will be entitled to have shares which are registered in somebody else's name registered in his own name or to require the shares to be transferred to another person. When a shareholder dies, or the sole survivor of joint shareholders dies, his personal representatives have this right. If a shareholder is made bankrupt, his trustee in bankruptcy has the right.

equity securities For Section 89 of the Companies Act this means all the shares of a company except:

- shares which only have a limited right to share in the company's income and assets;
- shares held as a result of share schemes for employees (such as profit sharing schemes);
- shares taken by the founders of the company on its incorporation; and
- bonus shares issued when the company capitalises reserves.

Also included are securities which can be converted into the kinds of shares referred to in the first two bullet points above, or which allow their holder to *subscribe for* the *shares*.

executed A document is executed when it is signed or sealed or made valid in some other way.

exercise When a power is exercised, it is used.

extraordinary resolution A decision reached by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of votes cast. Shareholders must be given at least 14 days' notice of any extraordinary resolution.

forfeit and forfeiture When a share is forfeited it is taken away from the shareholder and goes back to the company. This process is called "forfeiture". This can happen if a call on a partly paid share is not paid on time.

fully paid shares When all of the money or other property which is due to the company for a share has been paid or received, a share is called a "fully paid share".

good title If a person has good title to a share, he owns it outright.

holding company A company which controls another company (for example, by owning a majority of its shares) is called the "holding company" of that other company. The other company is the subsidiary of the holding company.

indemnity and indemnify If a person gives another person an indemnity, he promises to make good any losses or damage which the other might suffer. The person who gives the indemnity is said to "indemnify" the other person.

in issue See issue.

instruments Formal legal documents.

issue When a share has been issued, everything has been done by a company to make the shareholder the owner of the share. In particular, the shareholder's name has been put on the register. Existing shares which have been issued are called "in issue".

liabilities Debts and other obligations.

lien Where the company has a lien over shares, it can take the dividends, and any other payments relating to the shares which it has a lien over, or it can sell the shares, to repay the debt and so on.

members Shareholders.

nominal amount or nominal value The amount of the share shown in a company's account. The nominal value of the company's ordinary shares is 10p. This amount is shown on the share certificate for a share. When a company issues new shares this can be for a price which is at a premium to the nominal value. When shares are bought and sold on the stock market this can be for more, or less, than the nominal value. The nominal value is sometimes also called the "par value".

office copy An extract copy of an official document, supplied by the office which holds, or issued, the original.

officer The term officer includes (subject to the provisions of the articles) a director, secretary, any employee who reports directly to a director or any other person who the directors decide should be an officer.

Operator A person approved by the Treasury under the Uncertified Securities Regulations as operator of a relevant system.

Operator-instruction A properly authenticated instruction sent by or on behalf of an Operator and sent or received by means of a relevant system.

ordinary resolution A decision reached by a simple majority of votes - that is by more than 50 per cent. of the votes cast.

partly paid shares If any money remains to be paid on a share, it is said to be partly paid. The unpaid money can be "called" for.

personal representatives A person who is entitled to deal with the property (the "estate") of a person who has died. If the person who has died left a valid will, the will appoints "executors" who are personal representatives. If the person died without a will, the courts will appoint one or more "administrators" to be the personal representatives.

poll On a vote taken on a poll, the number of votes which a shareholder has will depend on the number of shares which he owns. An ordinary shareholder has one vote for each share he owns. A poll vote is different to a vote taken on a show of hands, where each person who is entitled to vote has just one vote, however many shares he owns.

power of attorney A formal document which legally appoints one or more persons to act on behalf of another person.

pre-emption rights The right of some shareholders which is given by the Companies Act to be offered a proportion of certain classes of newly issued shares and other securities before they are offered to anyone else. This offer must be made on terms which are at least as favourable as the terms offered to anyone else.

premium If a company issues a new share for more than its nominal value, the amount above the nominal value is the premium.

proxy A proxy is a person who is appointed by a shareholder to attend a meeting and vote for that shareholder. A proxy is appointed by using a proxy form. A proxy does not have to be a shareholder.

proxy form A form which a shareholder uses to appoint a proxy to attend a meeting and vote for him. The proxy forms are sent out by the company and must be returned to the company before the meeting to which they relate.

quorum The minimum number of shareholders or directors who must be present before a shareholders' or, as appropriate, directors' meeting can start. When this number is reached, the meeting is said to be "quorate".

rank When either capital or income is distributed to shareholders, it is paid out according to the rank of the shares. For example, a share which ranks ahead of (or above) another share in sharing in a company's income is entitled to have its dividends paid first, before any dividends are paid on shares which rank below (or after) it. If there is not enough income to pay dividends on all shares, the available income must be used first to pay dividends on shares which rank first, and then to shares which rank below. The same applies for repayments of capital. Capital must be paid first to shares which rank first in sharing in the company's capital, and then to shares which rank below. A company's preference shares (if it has any) generally rank ahead of its ordinary shares.

redeem, redemption and redeemable When a share is redeemed, it goes back to the company in return for a sum of money which was fixed (or calculated from a formula fixed) before the share was issued. This process is called "redemption". A share which can be redeemed is called a "redeemable" share.

relevant system This is a term used in the legislation for a computer system which allows shares without share certificates to be transferred without using transfer forms. The CREST system for paperless share dealing is a "relevant system".

renounces and renunciation Where a share has been allotted, but nobody has been entered on the share register for the share, it can be renounced to another person. This transfers the right to have the share registered to another person. This process is called "renunciation".

requisition A formal process which shareholders can use to call a meeting of shareholders. Generally speaking the shareholders who want to call a meeting must hold at least 10 per cent. of the *issued* shares.

reserves A fund which has been set aside in the accounts of a company - profits which are not paid out to shareholders as dividends, or used up in some other way, are held in a reserve by the company.

retire by rotation At every annual general meeting a proportion of the directors retires in turn. This gives the shareholders the chance to confirm or renew their appointments by voting on whether to re-elect them.

revoke To withdraw or cancel.

rights issue A way by which companies raise extra share capital. Usually the existing shareholders will be offered the chance to buy a certain number of new shares, depending on how many they already have. For example, shareholders may be offered the chance to buy one new share for every four they already have.

share premium account If a new share is issued by a company for more than its nominal value, the amount above the nominal value is the premium and the total of these premiums is held in a reserve (which cannot be used to pay dividends) called the share premium account.

show of hands A vote where each person who is entitled to vote has just one vote, however many shares he holds.

special resolution A decision reached by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of votes cast. Shareholders must be given at least 21 days' notice of any special resolution.

special rights These are the rights of a particular class of shares as distinct from rights which apply to all shares generally. Typical examples of special rights are: where the shares rank; their rights to sharing in income and assets; and voting rights.

statutory declaration A formal way of declaring something in writing. Particular words and formalities must be used - these are laid down by the Statutory Declarations Act of 1835.

subdivide When shares are subdivided they are split into shares which have a smaller nominal amount. For example, a £1 share might be subdivided into two 50p shares.

subject to Means that something else has priority, or prevails, or must be taken into account. When a statement is subject to something this means that the statement must be read in the light of that other thing, which will prevail if there is any conflict.

subscribe for shares To agree to take new shares in a company (usually for a cash payment).

subscribers The people who first buy the shares.

subsidiary A company which is controlled by another company (for example, because the other company owns a majority of its shares) is called a subsidiary of that company.

subsidiary undertaking This is a term used by the Companies Act. It has a wider meaning than subsidiary. Generally speaking, it is a company which is controlled by another company because the other company:

- has a majority of the votes in the company, either alone or acting with others;
- is a shareholder who can appoint or remove a majority of the directors; or
- can exercise dominant influence over the company because of anything in the company's memorandum or articles or because of a certain kind of contract.

trustees People who hold property of any kind for the benefit of one or more other people under a kind of arrangement which the law treats as a "trust".

uncertificated form A share or other security is held in uncertificated form if no certificate has been issued for it. A share or other security held in uncertificated form is eligible for settlement in CREST or any other relevant system.

underwriting A person who agrees to buy new shares if they are not bought by other people underwrites the share offer.

wind up The formal process to put an end to a company. When a company is wound up, its assets are distributed. The assets go first to creditors who have supplied property and services and then to shareholders. Shares which rank above other shares in sharing in the company's assets will receive any funds which are left over before any shares which rank after (or below) them.

CO:207101.8

CERTIFICATE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

I certify, in accordance with section 2(2) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (1999 c.20) that I approve the memorandum and articles of association of the Commonwealth Development Corporation (to be known as "CDC Group plc") in the form attached to this Certificate.

Secretary of State for International Development

8th December 1999



COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION ACT 1999 ("the Act")

Registration of Commonwealth Development Corporation ("the Corporation") as a public company limited by shares

Statement by the Corporation pursuant to paragraph 6 of schedule 1 to the Act

If registration was effected today, the amount of the Corporation's net assets would not be less than the aggregate of its called-up share capital and undistributable reserves assuming:

- (a) that shares were allotted as required by the Order dated 6 December 1999 made under Section 1(3)(b) of the Act; and
- (b) that the Corporation did not give notice of any intention to carry on business as an investment company under Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985.

Terms defined in the Act shall bear the same meaning in this statement.

Dated 7 December 1999

By order of the Board of the Corporation

Roy Reynolds
Chief Executive

A39 *AHUZXM37** 0136 COMPANIES HOUSE 08/12/99



COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION ACT 1999 ("the Act")

Registration of Commonwealth Development Corporation ("the Corporation") as a public company limited by shares

Statement by the auditors to the Corporation pursuant to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the Act.

We have examined the balance sheet attached of the Corporation at December 31, 1998 which formed part of the accounts for the year then ended audited by us.

Basis of opinion

The scope of our work for the purposes of this statement was limited to an examination of the relationship between the Corporation's net assets and its called-up share capital and undistributable reserves as stated in the audited balance sheet in connection with the Corporation's proposed registration as a public company.

Opinion

In our opinion the balance sheet shows that if registration had taken place on December 31 1998 the amount of the Corporation's net assets would have been not less than the aggregate of its called-up share capital and undistributable reserves, assuming:

- a) that shares were allotted as required by the order under Section 1(3)(b)of the Act; and
- b) that the Corporation has not given notice of intention to carry on business as an investment company under Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young

London

7 December 1999

A39 0137
COMPANIES HOUSE 08/12/99

Commonwealth Development Corporation Balance Sheet

	Audited		
	31 Dec		31 Dec
	1998	Adj	1998
	£m	£m	£m
Fixed Assets			
Tangible Assets	27.9		27.9
Investments	1,417.2		1,417.2
Provisions	(287.9)		(287.9)
Net Investments	1,157.2	·	1,157.2
Current Portion of Investments	(200.6)		(200.6)
	956.6		956.6
Current assets			
Debtors and prepayments	61.9		61.9
Investments - current portion	200.6		200.6
Short Term deposits and cash	7.5		7.5
Current assets	269.9		269.9
Amounts falling due within one year	(13.5)		(13.5)
·	256.4		256.4
Total assets less current liabilities	1,213.0	, , ,	1,213.0
Creditors: amounts falling due after more			
than one year	(1.9)	(755.0) *(2)	(756.9)
Net Assets	1,211.1	(755.0)	456.1
	 _	<u> </u>	
Capital and Reserves			
Share Capital		10.0 *(1)	10.0
Loans from Government	755.0	(755.0) *(2)	0.0
Reserves (distributable)	456.1	(10.0) *(1)	446.1
	1,211.1	(755.0)	456.1

^{*(1)} Adjustment to reflect the order under Section 1(3)(b) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 ("the order").



^{*(2)} Adjustment to reanalyse loans from Government to "Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year" to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.



Commonwealth Development Corporation

(To be registered as CDC Group plc)

I, Marie AG Stevens, hereby certify that the attached accounts 1998 (as deposited in the House of Commons Library) is a true copy of the most recent statement of accounts prepared by the Corporation under section 16(1) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978 and incorporates a copy of the auditors report stating that the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Corporation and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978-1996.

These accounts are delivered to the Registrar of Companies pursuant to Schedule 1 paragraph 4(1) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999.

Marie AG Stevens

General Counsel and Corporation Secretary

1 December 1999

A39 **AHVZUM34** 0139 COMPANIES HOUSE 08/12/99

COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 1998

THE ACCOUNTS

MINISTERIAL DIRECTION	34
MEMBERS' REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1998	36
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT	37
AUDITORS' REPORT	38
ACCOUNTING POLICIES	39
GROUP REVENUE ACCOUNT	42
GROUP BALANCE SHEET	43
CDC BALANCE SHEET	44
GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT	45
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS	46
DETAILS OF PRINCIPAL CONSOLIDATED AND NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES	64

MINISTERIAL DIRECTION NO.9 RELATING TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, with the approval of Treasury, in pursuance of Section 16(1) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978, hereby gives the following Direction:

- 1 The statement of accounts which it is the duty of the Corporation to prepare in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 1994 and in respect of any subsequent financial year shall comprise:
 - a. in respect of the Corporation and those of its subsidiaries dealt with in the consolidated accounts:
 - i. a consolidated revenue account:
 - ii. a consolidated balance sheet; and
 - iii. a consolidated cash flow statement.
 - b. in respect of the Corporation: a balance sheet.

including in each case such notes as may be necessary for the purposes referred to in paragraph 2 below.

- 2 The accounts referred to above shall give a true and fair view of the profit or loss, state of affairs and cash flow of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. Subject to the foregoing requirement, the statement of accounts shall also, without limiting the information given, meet, insofar as they are appropriate to public corporations:
 - a. the accounts requirements of the Companies Acts for the time being in force save as described in Schedule 1 of this direction, and with the limitations imposed in that schedule;
 - b. the disclosure requirements of Paragraphs 12.41 12.44 of the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange; and
 - c. the best commercial accounting practices including accounting standards issued or adopted by the Accounting Standards Board.
- 3 The statement referred to in paragraph 1 above shall also include the supplementary information set out in Schedule 2 to this direction.
- 4 On and from the date shown below, this direction supersedes the direction of 5th April 1993 previously given to the Corporation concerning the form of accounts.

Signed K.D.Grimshaw on behalf of the Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs

March 30, 1994

MEMBERS' REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1998

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Corporation and its consolidated subsidiary companies is investment in emerging markets. CDC operates in the developing economies through 32 overseas offices with £1.5bn in over 420 business in 55 countries. CDC itself provides investment capital, manages funds for third party investors and provides corporate management.

Statutory background

CDC was established as the Colonial Development Corporation in 1948. In 1963 it was renamed Commonwealth Development Corporation and since 1969 it has been able to operate in any developing country, subject only to the approval of the Secretary of State for International Development.

CDC's constitution and powers are laid down in the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 – 1996. The Acts define CDC's purpose as to assist overseas countries in the development of their economies. It may do this by investigating, formulating and carrying out projects for the creation, promotion, expansion, re-organisation and rationalisation in overseas countries of enterprises of specified classes.

CDC combines development objectives with a broadly commercial approach. On 25 November 1998 a Bill entitled the "Commonwealth Development Corporation Bill" was introduced into the House of Lords. The purpose of the Bill is to permit the transformation of CDC from a statutory corporation, governed by its own legislation into a public company, limited by shares, governed primarily by the Companies Act 1985. The purpose of the transformation is to make CDC a suitable vehicle for a Public Private Partnership with private investors.

Results

Gross income credited in the group accounts for 1998 including the group's share of the results of subsidiary and associated undertakings was £147.2m (1997 £157.8m). After operating expenditure, investment and other provisions, profits on investment realisations, other gains and losses, interest payable and tax, a deficit of £41.6m (1997 £64.3m surplus) was transferred to the general reserve.

Members

The names of the present members of the Board are set out on page 30. Sir William Ryrie KCB ceased to be a member of the Board on 31 October 1998. Ms Jayne Almond was appointed to the Board as Deputy Chairman with effect from the 4 January 1999.

All Board Members are appointed by the Secretary of State for International Development for periods not exceeding five years. As CDC is a statutory corporation, members do not have interests in shares neither do they have contracts of service.

Employees

CDC's policy is one of equal opportunity in the selection, training, career development and promotion of employees. CDC treats all applicants and employees equally and fairly. Employee appraisals and informal discussions, which are CDC's principal means of keeping in touch with the views of employees, have been maintained and developed during the period.

Charitable and political donations

CDC is not authorised to make any political or charitable donations. Accordingly, none were made by the organisation in the year to 31 December 1998.

Investment management and voting

In making investments, CDC aims to add value to the business. Whether a private or quoted entity, the basis for assessing added value has included augmenting capital flows, improving project structuring, initiating and developing new enterprises and sometimes providing technical and professional support. CDC nominates third parties in the country of investment, as well as its own employees to serve on the boards of investee companies and managed funds. CDC's policy is full corporate participation including voting on all resolutions raised at company meetings.

Payment of creditors

CDC's policy is to pay its creditors promptly as encouraged by UK Government initiatives.

Going concern

The Members have reviewed budgets and cash flow forecast and as a result are satisfied that CDC and the Group have adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future and are financially sound. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Development Committee

The Development Committee meets at least three times a year to consider matters relating to CDC's development role, health and safety, social and environmental issues. Regular reports are made to the full Board and, where necessary, recommendations put forward for approval. Since the year end the Committee has been renamed as the Business Principles Committee and expanded its role.

Year 2000 Compliance

The corporation is well advanced in adressing the risks to our business resulting from the date change to the year 2000, with regular reporting to the Audit Committee. It is planned that all essential systems will be compliant, and where possible "live tested" by the end of June 1999. Compliance expenditure has been, and is, within normal operational budgets and there are no additional material costs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Introduction

Members of the Board are non-executive and except for general policy and some matters relating to staff, have delegated authority for the conduct of day-to-day business to the Chairman and Chief Executive. The Board however retains overall control of the business and monitors the performance of executive management through the mechanism described below. The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the the group's system of internal financial control. The corporation has been in compliance with the provisions applicable of the Combined Code (as prepared by the Committee on corporate Governance chaired by Sir Ronald Hampel) as far as is appropriate for a statutory corporation.

Preparation of Accounts

In accordance with Ministerial Direction No 9 and Section 16(1) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978, the Members of the Board are required to prepare accounts for each year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CDC and of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing those accounts, the Members of the Board are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts;
- prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the CDC will
 continue in business.

The Members of the Board are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Corporation and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard CDC's assets and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Internal Financial Control

CDC has an established system of internal financial control which the Members of the Board consider to be appropriate to its functions to ensure that assets are safeguarded against material loss and that transactions are properly authorised, recorded and reported. Internal control systems are designed to meet CDC's particular needs and the risks to which it is exposed, and by their nature can provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The key procedures which the Board has established with a view to providing effective internal financial control are as follows.

Control Environment

CDC, in administering its functions, has put in place strict authorisation, approval and control levels within which management operate. Specific limits on the individual authority of the Chief Executive are laid down by the Board, and any transactions above these limits require approval by the Board.

CDC has detailed business planning and control systems, including annual budgets, business plans and monthly reporting against financial and business targets, budgets and plans and a quarterly review subject to scrutiny by the Chief Executive. The annual budgets of each overseas managed business and overseas office are reviewed by a London office director and London office departments are reviewed by the Chief Executive. The overall budget is approved by the Board which also reviews quarterly reports and forecasts. A quarterly report is sent to the Department for International Development.

Monitoring

The Audit Committee meets at least three times a year to consider accounting policies, internal financial control, and financial reporting. Both internal and external auditors attend and participate in these meetings. Regular reports are made to the full Board which meets at least ten times a year. Internal financial controls are monitored by the internal audit function to a programme concentrating on areas of higher risk and reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. External auditors meet independently with the Department for International Development and Treasury each year to discuss their report and other related matters.

Members and Senior Executives Remuneration

The remuneration of members is fixed by the Secretary of State for International Development. CDC's remuneration policy is designed to provide a competitive reward package which will attract, motivate and retain high quality staff, whilst ensuring that the cost element of these rewards remains at an appropriate level. Remuneration policy is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee of the Board which comprises four non-executive Directors including the Chairman. All UK employees receive a basic salary and are eligible for performance related pay. Senior management participates in an annual performance related incentive scheme. See note 9 to the accounts for further details.

AUDITORS' REPORT

Report to the Secretary Of State for International Development by the auditors, Ernst & Young, appointed under Section 16(3) Of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978 by the Secretary Of State

We have audited the accounts on pages 39 to 66, which have been prepared in accordance with the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 to 1996 under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain agricultural developments and buildings and on the basis of the accounting policies set out on pages 39 to 41.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERS AND AUDITORS

As described on page 37 the Corporation's Members are responsible for the preparation of accounts. Our responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established by statute, the Auditing Practices Board and by our profession's ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the accounts give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 to 1996. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the members' report is not consistent with the accounts, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if the information specified by law regarding members' remuneration and transactions with the Corporation is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited accounts. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the accounts.

We review whether the statement on page 37 reflects the Corporation's compliance with those provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review, and we report if it does not. We are not required to form an opinion on the effectiveness of either the Corporation's corporate governance procedures or internal controls.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the members in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Corporation's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the accounts are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the accounts.

OPINION

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Corporation and the Group at 31 December 1998 and of the Group's deficit for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 to 1996.

Registered Auditor
Rolls House
7 Rolls Buildings
Fetter Lane
London
EC4A 1NH

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following paragraphs describe the basis of presentation and the main accounting policies adopted by the Group. CDC Group consists of CDC and its consolidated subsidiaries.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 to 1996 under the historical cost convention. The form of CDC's accounts is set out in Ministerial Direction No 9 issued on 30 March 1994 which the Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs with the approval of the Treasury notified to the Corporation. The Direction is set out in full on pages 34 and 35. Thus the accounts comply with the accounting provisions of the Companies Act 1985, the accounts disclosure requirements of Paragraphs 12.41 - 12.44 of the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange and the accounting standards of the Accounting Standards Board, insofar as such compliance is appropriate to public corporations.

CDC and certain of its subsidiary undertakings (referred to in these accounts as consolidated subsidiaries) invest in overseas projects for the development of the local economies. Their results and balance sheets are consolidated with those of CDC.

The activities of its other significant subsidiary undertakings (referred to as non-consolidated subsidiaries) are managed directly through CDC Industries and involve a wide range of agricultural and industrial projects. With regard to these projects, the Board believes that information on dividend income, interest and realised capital gains is critical to understanding the commercial and financial performance of CDC as investor. Further, given that the activities of its non-consolidated subsidiaries are so different from the investment activities of CDC and its consolidated subsidiaries, the Board believes that to consolidate these non-consolidated subsidiaries would be incompatible with the obligation to give a true and fair view. Accordingly, in compliance with Section 229(4) of the Companies Act 1985, these subsidiaries have been excluded from consolidation, and have instead been included in the Group Accounts under the equity method of accounting. Aggregate information regarding the results and state of affairs of the non-consolidated subsidiaries is given in Note 3.

CDC also holds equity investments in companies in which CDC has both active management involvement and more than 20% of the equity. These are treated as associated undertakings and are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this method CDC's share of profits, less losses, is taken to the Group Revenue Account and CDC's share of their net assets is included in the Group Balance Sheet.

The Board approved a change in the basis of presentation of certain investments in the accounts. From 1 January 1997, all interests where CDC acts purely as a passive investor and where CDC holds 50% or less of the equity, are accounted for as investments.

As permitted by Section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 CDC does not present its own Revenue Account in these accounts.

INCOME RECOGNITION

CDC recognises dividends from subsidiaries and associates when declared in their own published revenue accounts. Dividends from companies which are neither non-consolidated subsidiaries nor equity accounted associates are credited to the Group Revenue Account on a received basis. Interest is credited to the Group Revenue Account on an accruals basis. Where interest on loans is more than ninety days overdue, all interest is excluded.

PROVISIONS

CDC reviews annually its provisions against equity investments, loan investments and current assets. Specific provisions are maintained against those investments which, in the opinion of the Board, have suffered an impairment of value. These provisions include amounts provided against the Group's share of the net assets of equity accounted non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

In the Group Balance Sheet foreign currency assets are translated into sterling at the rates ruling at 31 December. In the Group Revenue Account results are translated at the average rate for the year. Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of the opening net investment in overseas consolidated subsidiaries and those non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates accounted for under the equity method of accounting are disclosed as a movement in Reserves. Other equity investments and partnership interests are shown at original sterling cost. All gains and losses due to exchange fluctuations arising in the normal course of trade are included in the Group Revenue Account.

FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE COVER

CDC makes some loans in foreign currencies. The sterling value of the future receipt of loan repayments and interest in these foreign currencies is determined by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts to sell the currency receipts when they fall due. The discount or premium on these forward contracts is included in determining net income over the life of the forward contract. Foreign currency loans and the corresponding forward foreign exchange cover are included in the balance sheet at the year end rate.

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax, whether United Kingdom or overseas, is calculated under the liability method on the difference between the treatment of certain items for tax and accounting purposes. Provision is only made where it is anticipated that tax will be payable or a recovery will be made within the foreseeable future.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation and amortisation are provided on a straight line basis as follows:

Freehold land

Freehold land is not amortised.

Agricultural development

Agricultural development is normally revalued on a commercial basis at regular intervals.

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold land and buildings are amortised in accordance with the tenure.

Buildings

Buildings are amortised at rates to write off the buildings over their estimated remaining lives; these rates vary between 2½% and 10% per annum.

Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets are depreciated at rates to write off the assets over their estimated remaining lives; these rates vary between 5% and 50% per annum according to type.

STOCKS AND STORES

Stocks and stores are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include a proportion of overheads

PENSION COSTS

These are provided on a systematic basis over the expected service lives of staff.

GROUP REVENUE ACCOUNT

for the year ended 31 December 1998

	Note	1998 £m	1997 <u>£m</u>
Loan interest income	8	101.9	111.8
Loan fee income		3.1	4.0
Loan investment income		105.0	115.8
Dividend income		23.1	18.9
CDC Industries - share of net pre-tax profits	3	16.5	24.6
Less: Dividends related to the above		(8.1)	(10.3)
Equity investment income		31.5	33.2
Other operating income		10.7	8.8
Revenue		147.2	157.8
Operating expenditure	9	(33.9)	(24.8)
Other net losses	11	(2.9)	(0.9)
Operating Surplus		110.4	132.1
Net profits on investment realisations	10	1.2	7.9
Investment and other provisions	4	(154.9)	(54.5)
Interest payable on borrowings		(1.4)	(0.6)
(Deficit)/Surplus before tax		(44.7)	84.9
United Kingdom and overseas tax		8.2	(15.4)
CDC Industries - share of taxation	3	(5.1)	(5.2)
Tax on (deficit)/surplus on ordinary activities	12	3.1	(20.6)
(Deficit)/Surplus after tax		(41.6)	64.3
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year transferred to General Reserve	19	(41.6)	64.3

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

	1998 £m	1997 £m
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year	(41.6)	64.3
Exchange movements	(1.6)	(8.7)
Other movements	(3.6)	(4.0)
Total Gains and Losses recognised since the last Annual Report	(46.8)	51.6

The accounting policies at pages 39 to 41 and the notes on pages 46 to 66 form part of the accounts. The movement on reserves is shown in Note 19.

GROUP BALANCE SHEET

at 31 December 1998

		1998	1997
	Note	£m_	£m
FIXED ASSETS			
Tangible assets	13	28.7	27.6
Investments	2	1,520.6	1,562.2
Provisions	4	(319.2)	(249.0)
	·	1,230.1	1,340.8
Current portion of investments	4	(176.4)	(192.1)
		1,053.7	1,148.7
CURRENT ASSETS			
Debtors and prepayments	15	67.1	46.8
Investments - Current portion	4	176.4	192.1
Short-term deposits and cash		12.5	5.6
		256.0	244.5
CREDITORS			
Amounts falling due within one year	16	(14.5)	(56.9)
		241.5	187.6
TOTAL ASSETS less CURRENT LIABILITIES		1,295.2	1,336.3
CREDITORS			
Amounts falling due after more than one year	16	23.1	17.7
CAPITAL AND RESERVES			
Loans from Government	17	755.0	755.0
Reserves	18	516.8	563.6
	19	1,271.8	1,318.6
Minority interest		0.3	0.0
		1,295.2	1,336.3

The Accounts were approved by the Members of the Board on 3rd March 1999 and were signed on their behalf by:

Chairman

Chief Executive

The accounting policies at pages 39 to 41 and the notes on pages 46 to 66 form part of the accounts.

CDC BALANCE SHEET

at 31 December 1998

		1998	1997
	Note	£m	£m
FIXED ASSETS			
Tangible assets	13	27.9	27.2
Investments	20	1,417.2	1,530.8
Provisions	21	(287.9)	(259.7)
		1,157.2	1,298.3
Current portion of investments	21	(200.6)	(189.6)
		956.6	1,108.7
CURRENT ASSETS			
Debtors and prepayments	15	61.8	45.8
Investments - Current portion	21	200.6	189.6
Short-term deposits and cash		7.5	2.7
Current Assets		269.9	238.1
Amounts falling due within one year	16	(13.5)	(104.0)
		256.4	(134.1)
TOTAL ASSETS less CURRENT LIABILITIES		1,213.0	1,242.8
CREDITORS			
Amounts falling due after more than one year	16	1.9	2.3
CAPITAL AND RESERVES			
Loans from Government	17	755.0	755.0
Reserves	18	456.1	485.5
		1,211.1	1,240.5
		1,213.0	1,242.8

The Accounts were approved by the Members of the Board on 3rd March 1999 and were signed on their behalf by:

Chairman

Chief Executive

The accounting policies at pages 39 to 41 and the notes on pages 46 to 66 form part of the accounts.

GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 December 1998

	Note	1998 £m		1997 £m
Cash Flow from Operating Activities	5	101.4		113.8
Returns on Short term Investments and Servicing of Finance				
Short Term Deposit Interest Interest Paid on Long Term Loans		1.2 (1.2)		2.6
merest and on Long Term Loans		0.0		2.1
Taxation		(16.4)		(32.7)
Capital expenditure and Financial Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals	6			
Loan Redemptions		170.3		156.6
Proceeds from Equity Realisations		8.4		15.5
Fixed asset additions less disposals		(3.3) 175.4		(2.2) 169.9
New Investments		(226.8)		(283.7)
		(51.4)		(113.8)
Cash inflow/(outflow) before use of liquid resources and financing		33.6		(30.6)
Financing	7	8.6		(3.6)
Increase / (Decrease) in Cash in Year		42.2		(34.2)
CASH FLOW NOTES	<u> </u>	-		
Net Debt	31 Dec 9	97 Cashflow	Transfers	31 Dec 98
Cash in Hand	5.		-	12.5
Overdrafts Total Cash	(35.) (29.)		0.0	12.5
Debt due within 1 year				
Government loans	(35.	9) 35.9	(38.7)	(38.7)
Short Term loans	(35.	- (3.3)	(38.7)	(3.3)
Debt due after 1 year		<u> </u>		(72.0)
Government loans	(719.		38.7	(716.3)
Other Long Term loans	(17.5	5) (5.3)	<u> </u>	(22.8)
	(736.	6) (41.2)	38.7	(739.1)
Total	(802.:	2) 33.6	0.0	(768.6)

The accounting policies on pages 39 to 41 and the notes on pages 46 to 66 form part of the accounts.

2 GROUP INVESTMENTS

			Group
	CDC	CDC	Balance
	Industries	investments	Sheet
	£m	£m	£п
(1) Group Investments at 1 January 1998			
Group equity investments	128.2	261.5	389.7
Group loans	88.1	1,084.4	1,172.5
Total investments at 1 January 1998	216.3	1,345.9	1,562.2
(2) Group Investments at 31 December 1998			
Group equity investments	146.1	306.5	452.6
Group loans	70.2	997.8_	1,068.0
Total investments at 31 December 1998	216.3	1,304.3	1,520.6
(3) Group Equity Investments			
At 1 January 1998	128.2	261.5	389.7
New Investments	19.0	73.9	92.9
Realisation of equity	(0.5)	(6.8)	(7.3
Conversion of loan to equity	5,6	4.7	10.3
Investment written down	(2.3)	(28.3)	(30.6
Reclassification of investment category	(1.8)	1.5	(0.3
Group's share of profits after tax	11.4	•	11.4
Dividends eliminated	(8.1)	•	(8.1
Exchange and other movements	(5.4)		(5.4
At 31 December 1998	146.1	306.5	452.6
(4) Group Loans			
At 1 January 1998	88.1	1,084.4	1,172.5
New Investments	11.4	122.5	133.9
Redemptions	(12.2)	(158.1)	(170.3
Conversion of loan to equity	(5.6)	(4.7)	(10.3
Investment written down	(9.0)	(43.8)	(52.8
Reclassifications of investment category	(0.2)	0.2	
Exchange movement	(2.3)	(2.7)	(5.0
At 31 December 1998	70.2	997.8	1,068.0

At 31 December 1998 the quoted value in overseas local markets of equity investments for the Group amounted to the equivalent of £104.7m (book value £105.6m) (1997 £123.2m and £97.3m) and for CDC £83.6m (book value £80.5m) (1997 £99.3m and £72.3m). The market price for many of these quoted investments is volatile and the level of trading activity is low. In most cases any sale of an investment would have to be by private placement.

Investments at 31 December 1998 were: £145.8m equity and £89.5m loan (1997 : £116.3m equity, £86.9m loan) in subsidiares, and £24.0m equity and £3.4m loan (1997: £29.7m equity, £9.8m loan) in associates.

CDC makes certain loans denominated in US dollars, SA Rands and Italian Lire. The sterling value of future currency loan repayments and interest payments is determined by entering forward foreign exchange contracts. In accordance with this policy at 31 December 1998 the Corporation had forward contracts to sell US\$871.1m to sterling (1997 US\$941.3m), SA Rand 213.3m to sterling(1997 SA Rand 227.6m) and Italian Lire 1,517.9m to sterling(1997 nil). In respect of the principal value of these loans gains on these contracts accrued in the accounts amounted to £15.4m (1997 gains £12.7m). This is equal and opposite to the loss arising on translation of the loans at the year end US dollar/Sterling and SA Rand/Sterling rates.

A list of subsidiaries and associates appears at pages 64 to 66.

3 CDC INDUSTRIES

Non-consolidated subsidiaries and equity accounted associates (see the Basis of presentation in the Accounting policies on page 39)

(1) The Group's share of the profits for the year of these companies is as follows:

	1998	1997
	CDC	CDC
	industries	Industries
	£m	<u>m2</u>
Turnover	230.6	266.9
Profit before tax	33.6	49.2
Profit attributable to minorities	(17.1)	(25.2)
Group share of profit before tax	16.5	24.0
Elimination of losses in respect of companies with net asset deficiencies		0.6
Group share of equity accounted net		
profits before tax	16.5	24.6
Tax net of minority share	(5.1)	(5.2)
Group share of profit after tax	11.4	19.4

⁽²⁾ Profit before tax includes an additional depreciation charge for Pacific Rim Plantations (Pty) Ltd of £6.6m in 1998 and included an additional £15.6m profit in 1997 arising from the inclusion of a 20 month accounting period for Mhlume (Swaziland) Sugar Co Ltd and Inyoni Yami Swaziland Irrigation Scheme to achieve coterminous year ends in line with the Group.

⁽³⁾ Group share of profit before tax includes an additional depreciation charge for Pacific Rim Plantations (Pty) Ltd of £3.7m in 1998 and included an additional £7.8m profit in 1997 arising from the inclusion of a 20 month accounting period for Mhlume (Swaziland) Sugar Co Ltd and Inyoni Yami Swaziland Irrigation Scheme to achieve coterminous year ends in line with the Group.

⁽⁴⁾ CDC Industries companies now account in US dollars. This has increased group share of profit before tax by £10.5m in 1998.

3 CDC INDUSTRIES (continued)

(5) Group interest in the net assets of these companies is as follows:

	1998	1997
	CDC	CDC
	industries	Industries
	£m	£m
Fixed Assets	309.8_	282.5
Current assets		
Stocks	39.3	40.7
Debtors	35.7	34.2
Investments	0.7	0.7
Cash	24.6	26.0
	100.3	101.6
Creditors		
Amounts falling due within one year	(52.6)	(39.9)
Net Current Assets	47.7	61.7
Total assets less current liabilities	357,5	344.2
CDC loans (Note 2)	(70.2)	(88.1)
Other loans	(53.9)	(51.1)
CDC other advances	(6.4)	(6.8)
Minority interest	(80.9)	(74.6)
Net assets	146.1	123.6
Elimination of net asset deficiencies		4.6
Group interest in net assets (Note 2)	146.1	128,2

⁽⁶⁾ Capital commitments of CDC industries companies amounted to £4.2m at 31 December 1998 (1997 £15.6m), approved commitments £2.3m (1997 £18.7m) and contingent liabilities £2.1m (1997 £3.3m).

4 GROUP PROVISIONS

(1) Provisions against investments and debtors for the Group

	Total		
	Investment		
	Provisions	Debtors	Total
	£m_	£m	£m
At 1 January 1998	249.0	3.6	252.6
Revenue Charge	155.0	(0.1)	154.9
Provisions utilised by write downs	(83.4)	(0.9)	(84.3)
Exchange Movement	(1.4)	(0.2)	(1.6)
At 31st December 1998	319.2	2.4	321.6
			£m
Charge to Revenue Account 1997			54.5

Provisions held at 31st December amounted to £65.7m against subsidiaries ($1997 \pm £67.2$) and £6.9m ($1997 \pm £4.3m$) against associates.

The current portion of the Group investment provisions has been deducted from the current portion of investments as follows:

	1998	1997
	£m	£m
Current portion of loan	204.1	229.7
Current portion of provision	(27.7)	(37.6)
Net current portion	176.4	192.1

Current portion relating to subsidiaries is £17.5m (1997 £8.5m) and to associates is £0.9m (1997 £1.2m).

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

		1998	1997
		£m	£m
	Revenue	147.2	157.8
	Operating Expenditure	_(33.9)	(24.8)
	Operating surplus before other charges	113.3	133.0
	Depreciation charges	1.9	1.4
	Short term deposit interest	(1.2)	(2.6)
	Deduct share of net pre-tax profits/losses of equity accounted companies	(16.5)	(24.6)
	Add dividends receivable from equity accounted companies after adjusting for tax credits	8.1	10.3
	Exchange and other movements	1.9	(2.1)
	(Increase)/decrease in debtors	(8.9)	0.3
	Increase/(decrease) in creditors	2.8	(1.9)
	Net cash inflow from Operating Activities	101.4	113.8
6	FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS Capital Expenditure and Financial Investments		
	Purchase of Tangible Assets Sale of Tangible Assets	(4.0) 0.7	(2.9) 0.7
	New Loan Investments	(133.9)	(210.7)
	New Equity Investments (Other)	(63.1)	(42.5)
	Loan Redemptions	170.3	156.6
	Proceeds from Equity Realisations (Other)	5.3	10.8
		(24.7)	(88.0)
	Acquisitions and Disposals		
	New Equity Investments (Subsidiaries and Associates)	(29.8)	(30.5)
	Proceeds from Equity Investments (Subsidiaries and Associates)	3.1	4.7
		(26.7)	(25.8)
		(51.4)	(113.8)

There is £0.6m (1997 £0.6m) of cash retained with Lawyers in Malaysia in lieu of Real Property Gains Tax in connection with the sale of Bal Plantations Sdn Bhhd.

ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN EXTERNAL FINANCING DURING THE YEAR

LOANS FROM GOVERNMENT

	1998	1997
	£m	£m
Balance at 1 January	755.0	765.0
Orawings during year	35.9	23.3
Repayment of instalments due in year	(35.9)	(33.3
Balance at 31 December	755.0	755.0
Net movement during year	0.0	(10.0)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	4	(,0.0,
SHORT TERM BORROWINGS		
	1998	1997
	£m	£m
Balance at 1 January	0.0	0.0
Movement during year	3.3	-
Balance at 31 December	3.3	0.0
Net movement during year	3,3	
OTHER LONG TERM LOANS		
	1998	1997
	£m	£m
Balance at 1 January	17.5	11.1
Movement during year	5.3	6.4
Balance at 31 December	22.8	17.5
Net movement during year	5.3	6.4
Total movement during year	8.6	(3.6)

8 INTEREST INCOME

	1998 £m	1997
		£m
Interest on loans to non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates	13.1	13,8
Interest from other toan investments	102.6	105.5
Gross loan interest	115.7	119,3
Interest capitalised	1.7	1,6
Interest excluded	(15.5)	(9.1)
Loan interest income	101.9	111.8

Interest is credited to the Group Revenue Account on an accruals basis. Where interest on loans is more than ninety days overdue, all interest is excluded. Total interest excluded at 31 December 1998 amounted to £30.4m as follows:

	1998 £m	1997
		£m_
At 1 January	18.9	54.1
Interest excluded (net of interest received)	15.5	9.1
Interest capitalised	(1.7)	(1.6)
Interest written down	(2.3)	(42.7)
At 31 December	30.4	18.9

Interest of £0.8m (1997 £0.8m) was excluded relating to non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates resulting in a cumulative exclusion of £3.2m (1997 £2.5m).

9 OPERATING EXPENDITURE

	1998	1997 £m
	Em	
Staff costs	16.3	13.2
Other operating charges	17.6	11.6
	33.9	24.8

(1) Staff costs are made up as to:

	1998 £000's	1997 £000's
Board members' emoluments	97	95
Wages and salaries	14,643	12,195
Social security costs	923	784
Overseas pension costs	166	142
Provision for Pensions	500	0
	16,329	13,216

Staff costs include the costs for Fund Management companies of £1.2m (1997 £nil).

(2) Other operating charges are made up as to:

	1998 £000's	1997
		£000's
General administration	12,047	9,843
Business change costs	1,790	-
Fund Management administration	1,608	291
Auditors - audit fees and expenses		
-CDC	82	67
-Other Group Companies	51	10
- fees for non audit work	53	6
Depreciation	1,940	1,400
	17,571	11,617

⁽³⁾ CDC complies, so far as is appropriate for a statutory corporation, with the Combined code. The members of the Corporation are currently all non-executive and are normally appointed for a fixed term not exceeding five years, with remuneration levels set by the Secretary of State for International Development. Members of the Corporation receive no pension entitlements. There is a Remuneration Committee of the Corporation which meets at least three times a year to review remuneration policy and practices of the Corporation.

9 OPERATING EXPENDITURE (continued)

Remuneration of Members of the Board in the year to 31 December 1998 which is wholly in respect of services as Board Members:

	1998	1997
Chairman	29	27
Other Board Members	68	68
	97	95

In the year all emoluments were paid directly to Board Members. In 1997 £7,313 in respect of Mr P Kent and Mr K R Seal was paid directly to their employers.

At no time during the year has any Board member been materially interested in any significant transaction or arrangement in relation to the Corporation's activities.

(4) The average number of management, administration and support staff during the year, excluding Board members at (3) above, was as follows:

	1998	1997
London office	246	239
Overseas offices	209	189
Consolidated subsidiaries	93	9
	548	437

The Corporation is committed to equal opportunities and the development of its staff. There is regular staff discussion with management through the medium of an elected Joint Consultative Committee and out of 6 Trustees of the CDC Pensions Scheme 2 are elected by staff and 4 are nominated by the Corporation, one such nominee being a pensioner.

(5) Total emoluments of the Chief Executive (inclusive of a performance related bonus, introduced in 1996) were £168,189 (1997 £153,762) and those of the Executive Management Committee were £819,429 (1997 £747,071). UK staff salaries fell within the following ranges:

	1998		1997
£30,001 to £40,000	34	•	40
£40,001 to £50,000	36	•	31
£50,001 to £60,000	26	*	20
£60,001 to £70,000	17	•	9
£70,001 to £80,000	10	•	6
£80,001 to £90,000	5	•	4 '
£90,001 to £100,000	1	•	2 '
£100,001 to £110,000	4	•	1 '
£110,001 to £120,000	-		-
£120,001 to £130,000	2	*	2
£130,001 to £140,000	1	•	-
£140,001 to £150,000	1	•	-
* includes some performance related bonuses, introduced in 1996			

9 OPERATING EXPENDITURE (continued)

(6) The Corporation operates a defined benefit pension scheme for staff, called the CDC Pensions Scheme. In accordance with statutory requirements, membership of the Scheme is voluntary. The assets of the Scheme are held in a separate trust.

An actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 31 August 1998 by independent Consulting Actuaries, using the projected unit method. The valuation was due as at 31 March 1999, but was brought forward to quantify the impact of various changes affecting the Scheme. The next periodical valuation is due as at 31 March 2001.

The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of such a valuation are those relating to the differentials between the rate of return on investments and the rates of increase in salaries, pensions and equity dividends. For the purposes of determining the Corporation's pension costs it was assumed that the investment return would be 2.25% per annum higher than the rate of annual salary increases, 2.25% per annum higher than the fixed rate of pension increases which applies to most scheme pensions in payment and 3.5% per annum higher than the rate at which dividends from equity holdings would grow.

At the date of the valuation, the market value of the Scheme's assets was £174.5m. The actuarial value of the Scheme's assets was calculated to be some 125% of the amount needed to cover the benefits that had accrued to Scheme members, after allowing for expected future increases in earnings and increases to pensions in payment.

Acting on the advice of the actuary, the Corporation made no contribution or accrual up to 31 August 1998 but have commenced accruing pension costs from 1 September 1998. After allowing for the amortisation of the surplus over the average remaining service lives of current staff, the pension cost charged in the Corporation's accounts for 1998 was £0.5m (1997 nil). The varied pension cost for a full year is currently estimated to be £1.6m.

9 OPERATING EXPENDITURE (continued)

During 1990 the Corporation secured certain benefits, including those of members of a closed defined benefit scheme covering retired former staff, by the purchase of insurance policies. The scheme was wound up on 25 November 1991. The Corporation has a residual provision of £56,820 (1997 £56,820) which relates to overseas based schemes.

The Corporation made contributions of £165,861 (1997 £142,469) to overseas defined contribution provident and pension schemes during 1997. At 31 December 1998 the Corporation showed the accumulated interest of members of these schemes to be £289,696 (1997 £187,326) all of which is shown in creditors due after more than one year.

10 NET PROFITS ON INVESTMENT REALISATIONS

	1998	1997 £m
	£m	
Profits on realisations	2.1	9.2
Losses on realisations	(0.9)	(1.3)
	1.2	7.9

11 OTHER NET LOSSES

	1998 £m	1997 £m
Surplus arising on fixed asset disposals	0.3	0.6
Net exchange losses	(1.9)	(0.5)
Other net losses	(1.3)	(1.0)
	(2.9)	(0.9)

12 TAX ON (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

	1998	1997
	£m	£m
United Kingdom tax at the corporation tax rate of 31.0% for the year		
(1997 31.5%)	(10.0)	21.3
Relief for overseas tax	•	(7.0)
	(10.0)	14.3
Overseas tax	1.8	2.2
Tax on profits of non-consolidated subsidiaries	3.1	1.0
Tax on profits of associates	2.0	4.2
	6.9	7.4
	(3.1)	21.7
Adjustments relating to previous year		
- UK	•	(0.9)
- Overseas	·	(0.2)
	0.0	(1.1)
Tax charge for year	(3.1)	20.6

No provision for deferred tax is required because there is an overall net asset which has not been recognised in the accounts.

Where the Group does not expect to dispose of subsidiary or associated undertakings, or remit dividends from overseas companies to the UK in excess of those reflected in the accounts, no further tax provision has been made. The full potential deferred tax liability has not been calculated as it is considered impracticable to estimate the amount of such taxes.

13 TANGIBLE ASSETS

	Group			CDC		
	Land	Other		Land	Other	
	and	Fixed		and	Fixed	
	Buildings	Assets	Total	Buildings	Assets	Total
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Cost or Valuation						
At 1 January 1998	25.7	8.6	34.3	25.5	8.4	33.9
Exchange movement	(0.4)	(0.2)	(0.6)	(0.4)	(0.2)	(0.6)
Reclassifications	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
Additions	0.6	3.4	4.0	0.6	2.7	3.3
Disposals	(0.4)	(1.0)	(1.4)	(0.4)	(0.8)	(1.2)
At 31 December 1998	25.5	11.1	36.6	25.3	10.1	35.4
Depreciation						
At 1 January 1998	1.8	4.9	6.7	1.8	4.9	6.7
Exchange movement	(0.1)	0.1	0.0	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.2)
Charge for year	0.2	1.7	1.9	0.2	1.5	1.7
Disposals	(0.2)	(0.5)	(0.7)	(0.2)	(0.5)	(0.7)
At 31 December 1998	1.7	6.2	7.9	1.7	5.8	7.5
Net book value at 31 December 1998	23.8	4.9	28.7	23.6	4.3	27.9
Net book value at 31 December 1997	23.9	3.7	27.6	23.7	3.5	27.2
The net book value of land and buildings comprises:					GROUP	CDC
					£m	£m
	•			1		
Freehold					1.6	1.4
Leasehold - Long					22.2	22.2
<u></u>				-	23.8	23.6

14 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

CDC has commitments to subscribe up to £276.3m (1997 £256.3m) for debentures, loans and shares, including commitments to non-consolidated subsidiaries of £58.4m (1997 £48.2m). In addition Board authority has been given for further investments of £359.9m (1997 £385.2m).

CDC has guaranteed the performance of contracts by certain non-consolidated subsidiaries to the extent of £2.1m (1997 £0.3m) and of other companies to the extent of £5m (1997 £nil).

As a result of the forward foreign exchange contracts relating to US Dollar, South Africa Rand, and Italian Lire loans (see note 2) the exposure to counterparties at 31.12.98 was £53.1m (1997 £36.6m). The decrease during the year is the result of the depreciation of sterling against the US Dollar. The 1997 US\$ year end rate against sterling was 1.66 (1997 1.65).

15 DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

	GROUP		CDC	
	1998	1997	1998	1997
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Prepayments and deposits	1.5	0.5	0.6	0.5
Amounts owed by consolidated				
subsidiaries	•	-	1.8	0.2
Amounts owed by non-consolidated subsidiaries	7.3	6.6	6.5	6.3
Amounts owed by associates	5.4	3.4	5.1	3.3
Accrued income (net of exclusions)	34.8	30.6	31.9	30.2
Other debtors	9.1	9.4	6.9	8.9
Debtors provisions	(2.4)	(3.7)	(2.4)	(3.6)
	55.7	46.8	50.4	45.8
Taxation recoverable (UK)	11.4	0.0	11.4	0.0
	67.1	46.8	61.8	45.8

Debtors and prepayments include £10.4m (1997 £11.6m) which is due after more than one year.

Accrued income for both the Group and CDC is stated after excluding interest of £30.4m (1997 £18.9m) (see Note 8) and commitment fees of £0.2m (1997 £0.1m). The movement on provisions made against other debtors is shown at Note 4.

16 CREDITORS

(1) Amounts falling due within one year:

	GROUP		CDC	
	1998	1998 1997 1998	1998	1997
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Bank overdraft/Short term borrowings	3.3	35.3	3.3	35.3
Amounts owed to consolidated subsidiaries	-	-	-	47.6
Tax	4.5	17.7	4.5	17.6
Other creditors and accruals	6.7	3.9	5.7	3.5
	14.5	56.9	13.5	104.0

Other creditors and accruals include a pension fund provision of £0.5m (1997 £nil)

(2) Amounts falling due after more than one year:

	GROUP		CDC	
	1998	1997	1998	1997
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Term loans	21.2	15.4	0.0	0.0
Loans with special terms	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6
Other long term creditors	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.5
'	22.8	17.5	1.6	2.1
Pension and provident provisions	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2
	23.1	17.7	1.9	2.3

The term loans relate to a European Investment Bank (£21.2m) loan with twenty semi-annual repayments between the year 2000 and 2009 . The loans with special terms relate to a European Investment Bank loans (£1.6m) with repayments linked to the realisation of the underlying equity investments.

17 LOANS FROM GOVERNMENT

The Department for International Development is the Corporation's sponsoring Government department and provides funding in the form of loans and is therefore a related party. Details of the cashflow impact, and maturity profile of these loans are shown respectively in note 7 and below.

Loans from Government are all long-term and are repayable by instalments. The final instalment falls due in the year 2023 as follows:

	GROUP AND	CDC
	1998	1997
	£m	£m
Within one year	38.7	35.9
Between one and two years	39.8	38.7
Between two and five years	129.9	124.8
Total between zero and five years	208.4	199.4
Between five and ten years	220.0	219.7
Between ten and fifteen years	174.9	175.4
Between fifteen and twenty years	123.7	130.0
Between twenty and twenty-five years	28.0	30.5
	755.0	755.0

On 28 June 1995 the CDC Act 1995 passed by Parliament raised CDC's statutory overall borrowing limit (including sums borrowed by its subsidiaries) to £1,100m. At 31 December 1998 outstanding borrowings totalled £837.3m (1997 £840.5m). At 31 December 1998 CDC had a temporary borrowing of £3.3m (1997 £35.3m) against the limit of £60m approved by the Treasury.

18 RESERVES

	Revaluation	General	Total
	£m	£m	£m
GROUP			
At 1 January 1998	5.8	557.8	563.6
Deficit for year	-	(41.6)	(41.6)
Exchange movements	•	(1.6)	(1.6)
Other movements	(0.1)	(3.5)	(3.6)
At 31 December 1998	5.7	511.1	516.8
CDC			
At 1 January 1998	-	485.5	485.5
Retained losses	<u> </u>	(29.4)	(29.4)
At 31 December 1998		456.1	456.1

(Pre tax (losses)/profits of CDC only were £(37.6)m (1997 £67.4m)).

Exchange movements relate to the reserves of consolidated and non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates which are expressed in foreign currency.

The Group's reserves as at 31 December 1998 include accumulated reserves of non-consolidated subsidiaries of £(11.8)m (1997 £(7.8)m) and associates of £2.1m (1997 £3.2m).

The balance of the CDC General Reserve of £456.1m constitutes the Reserve Fund for the purposes of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Acts 1978 to 1996.

19 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN CAPITAL FUNDS

	1998	1997
	£m	£m
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year	(41.6)	64.3
Exchange and other movements	(5.2)	(12.7)
Loans from Government (net)		(10.0)
Net addition to capital funds	(46.8)	41.6
Opening capital funds	1,318.6	1,277.0
Closing capital funds	1,271.8	1,318.6
Presented in the accounts as :		
Loans from Government	755.0	755.0
Reserves	516.8	563.6
	1,271.8	1,318.6

20 INVESTMENTS - CDC ONLY

	Equity	_ Equity		ns
	1998	1997	1998	1997
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Consolidated subsidiaries	35.4	39.6	49.8	10.0
Non-consolidated subsidiaries	131.3	146.1	78.2	77.5
Associates	7.7	18.0	3.4	9.8
Other investments	192.2	198.6	919.2	1,031.2
TOTAL	366.6	402.3	1050.6	1,128.5
	Equity		Loans	Total

	Equity	Loans	Total
	£m	£m	£m
At 1 January 1998	402.3	1,128.5	1,530.8
New Investments	39.9	115.4	155.3
Transfers from Group companies	(19.0)	33.8	14.8
Realisations and Redemptions	(7.3)	(169.2)	(176.5)
Conversion of loans to equity	-	•	
Investment write downs	(49.3)	(52.8)	(102.1)
Exchange movement	<u> </u>	(5.1)	(5.1)
At 31 December 1998	366.6	1,050.6	1,417.2

21 PROVISIONS - CDC ONLY

(1) Provisions against investments and debtors:

	Investments	Debtors	Total
	£m	£m	£m
At 1 January 1998	259.7	3.6	263.3
Revenue Charge	130.3	(0.1)	130.2
Provisions utilised	(102.1)	(0.9)	(103.0)
Exchange movement	<u> </u>	(0.2)	(0.2)
At 31 December 1998	287.9	2.4	290.3

(2) The current portion of the investment provisions has been deducted from the current portion of investment as follows:

	1998	1997
Current portion of loan	228.3	226.8
Current portion of provision	(27.7)	(37.2)
Net current portion	200.6	189.6

DETAILS OF PRINCIPAL CONSOLIDATED AND NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION

CLASS

PEDCENTACE

HELD

	INCORPORATION	CLASS	HELD	
REGION/COMPANY	AND OPERATION	OF SHARE	BY CDC	PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
GONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES	The second second		5.5	THE STATE OF THE S
THE AMERICAS				
CDC Holdings (Barbados) Ltd	Barbados	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
CDC (Euro) Ltd	Barbados	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
West Indies Development Corporation Ltd	Jamaica	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
(invested by CDC Holdings (Barbados) Ltd)	Jamaica	Preference		
AFRICA				
CDC Financial Services (Mauritius) Co Ltd	Mauritius	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
(invested by CDC (Barbados) Ltd)				
Kenya Capital Partners Ltd	Kenya	Ordinary	51	Fund management
Mozambique Capital Partners Ltd	Mozambique	Ordinary	50	Fund management
		Preference	50	
Swaziland Development Corporation Ltd	Swaziland	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
First Capital Partners Ltd	Tanzania	Ordinary	56	Fund management
Comafin Management (Pvt) Ltd	Zimbabwe	Ordinary	100	Fund management
Fund Investment Services Ltd	Zambia	Ordinary	52	Fund management
SOUTH ASIA				
Ayojana Fund Management (Pvt) Ltd	Sri Lanka	Ordinary	50	Fund Management
International Venture Capital Management Ltd (invested by CDC Financial Services (Mauritius) Ltd)	India	Ordinary	100	Fund management
CDC Advisors Private Ltd (invested by CDC Financial Services (Mauritius) Ltd)	lndia	Ordinary	100	Advisory company
TAGE AGLI AND DAGING				
EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC Fiji Development Co Ltd	Fiji	Ordinary	100	Development finance
CDC Holdings Sdn Bhd	Malaysia	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
CDC (West Malaysia) Sdn Bhd	Malaysia	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
Pacific Capital Partner (PNG) P/L	Papua New Guinea	Ordinary	100	Fund management
Pacific Capital Partner Ltd	Papua New Guinea	Ordinary	100	Fund management
Kulai Oil Palm Estate Sdn Bhd	Malaysia	Ordinary	100	Investment holding
NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARII	7 5 (1881) (1884)		garist Laguerence	
THE AMERICAS				
Big Falls Plantations Ltd	Belize	Ordinary	65	Citrus cultivation
Citrus Co of Belize Ltd ((invested by CDC Holdings (Barbados) Ltd)	Belize	Ordinary	97	Citrus cultivation
Del Oro SA	Costa Rica	Ordinary	100	Citrus juice blending plant
Inversiones Guanaranja SA	Costa Rica	Ordinary	100	Citrus cultivation
RFA Inc (invested by Terrapez SA)	Costa Rica	Ordinary	85	Fish farming and processing
Terrapez SA (invested by CDC Holdings (Barbados) Ltd)	Costa Rica	Ordinary	85	Fish farming and processing
Caribbean Finance Investments Ltd	Cuba	Ordinary	60	Development finance
CDC Equipment Leasing Ltd	Cuba	Ordinary	100	Leasing finance
Dominica Electricity Services Ltd (invested by CDC Holdings (Barbados) Ltd)	Dominica	Ordinary	72	Electricity generation, transmission and distribution

	COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION	CLASS	PERCENTAGE HELD	
<u>ion=consolidatiddsubsidil</u>	IMILAX(CONGUNALISE).			eracade e e
FRICA				
Compagnie Heveicole de Cavally SA	Côte d'Ivoire	Ordinary	100	Rubber cultivation and processing
Ngong Racecourse Properties Ltd	Кепуа	Ordinary	54	Commercial property development
Kawalazi Estate Co Ltd	Malawi	Ordinary	100	Tea and macadamia cultivation and processing
Portland Cement Co (1974) Ltd	Malawi	Ordinary	75	Cement production
Sable Farming Co Ltd	Malawi	Ordinary	96	Coffee, tea, macadamia an arable cultivation and processing and dairy
Sierra Leone Investments Ltd	Sierra Leone	Ordinary	57	Development finance
Ghana Leasing Co Ltd	Ghana	Ordinary	81	Equipment leasing
Sulmac Co Ltd	Kenya	Ordinary	71	Flowers and vegetables
Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd	Swaziłand	Ordinary	100	Eucalyptus pine plantatio
Molopo Ranch	Botswana	Ordinary	100	Cattle farming
East Usambara Tea Co Ltd	Tanzania	Ordinary	100 *	Tea cultivation and
		Preference	100	factories
Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd	Tanzania	Ordinary 'A' Ordinary 'B'	100 100	Teak development
Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd	Tanzania	Ordinary 'A' Ordinary 'B'	84 * 100	Tanning extract and timbe
Rwenzori Tea Investments I td	Haanda	Ordinary	51	Tea cultivation

Ngong Racecourse Properties Ltd Kenya Ordinary State Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary Fortland Cement Co (1974) Ltd Malawi Ordinary Portland Cement Co (1974) Ltd Malawi Ordinary Sable Farming Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Colfinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Ghana Ordinary To Development finance Sumaci Co Ltd Kenya Ordinary To Development finance Equipment leasing Sulmac Co Ltd Kenya Ordinary To Development finance Equipment leasing Sulmac Co Ltd Swaziliand Ordinary To Cattle farming Eucalyptus pine planta Ordinary To Cattle farming Eucalyptus pine planta Ordinary To Cattle farming Freference To Grinary To Tea cultivation and Preference To Ordinary To Tea development Ordinary To Teak development Ordinary To Sierra Leone Ordinary To Office block development Ordinary To Office block development Ordinary To Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary To Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary To Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary To Fish farming and proce Cultivation and proce	a cessing amia and and ry ce
Portland Cement Co (1974) Ltd Malawi Portland Cement Co (1974) Ltd Malawi Sable Farming Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Ghana Sulmac Co Ltd Swaziland Molopo Ranch East Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Reenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Reenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Reenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tea cultivation Reenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea Cultivation Reenzori Courts Ltd Cement production Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary Tea Coffee and arabie cultivation and product cultivation and renching Ordinary Tea Coffee cotton and arabie cultivation and renching	cessing amia and and ry ce
Portland Cement Co (1974) Ltd Sable Farming Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary Sable Farming Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary Sierra Leone Sierra Leone Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Ghana Ordinary Silmac Co Ltd Swaziland Ordinary Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd Swaziland Molopo Ranch East Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Sierra Leone Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Uganda Ordinary Sierra Leone Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzani	amia and and ry ce ables
Sable Farming Co Ltd Malawi Ordinary 96 Coffee, tea, macadamia arable cultivation and processing and dairy Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Investments Ltd Sierra Leone Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Ghana Ordinary Sierra Leone Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Swaziland Ordinary To Equipment leasing Sulmac Co Ltd Swaziland Ordinary Swaziland Ordinary Ino Cattle farming Cattle farming Freference Ino Freference Ino Frea cultivation and Freference Ino Tanzania Ordinary Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Ordinary Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania Tanzania	amia and and ry ce ables
Ghana Leasing Co Ltd Ghana Ghana Ordinary Sulmac Co Ltd Kenya Ordinary Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd Swaziland Ordinary Molopo Ranch Botswana Ordinary Freference Fast Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Tanzania Ordinary Todinary	ibles antation
Sulmac Co Ltd Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd Swaziland Molopo Ranch Botswana Ordinary 100 Cattle farming East Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 100 Tanganyia Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Uganda Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Uganda Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Uganda Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Uganda Ordinary Tanganyika Ordinary Tanganyika Uganda Tanganyika	antation
Shiselweni Forestry Co Ltd Molopo Ranch Botswana Ordinary Botswan	antation
Molopo Ranch East Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Preference 100 Factories Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 100 Teak development Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 100 Teak development Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Todinary 'B' 100 Todifice Investing and proce cultivation and ranching and production and ranching and production and ranching the cultivation and ranching the cultivation and ranching the cultivation and ranching 'B' 100 Todinary 'B' 100	
East Usambara Tea Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Preference 100 Factories Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 100 Teak development Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanzania Ordina	
Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Todinary 'B' 100 Transing extract and tire Ordinary 'B' 100 Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Ltd Uganda Ordinary Chilanga Cement Ltd Tanzania Ordinary Tanzania Ordinary Todinary	l .
Kilombero Valley Teak Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' 100 Ordinary 'B' 100 Production, tea cultivation Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Ordinary Ordinary Tea cultivation Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Ordinary Tea cultivation Teak development Teau cultivation Teau cultivation Teak development Teau cultivation Teau cult	
Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'B' Ordinary 'A' Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea cultivation Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea cultivation Tea cultivation Ordinary Tea cultivation Tea cultivation Tea cultivation Ordinary Tea cultivation Tea cultivation Tea cultivation Ordinary Tea cultivation	
Tanganyika Wattle Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 'A' 84 * Tanning extract and tire Ordinary 'B' 100 production, tea cultivate Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Ordinary 51 Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary 74 Office block developm Chilanga Cement Ltd Zambia Ordinary 51 Cement production Mbeya Cement Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 51 Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 100 Leasing Finance Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 70 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 Ordinary 76 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Ordinary 76 Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 Cultivation and ranchire	
Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea cultivation Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea cultivation Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Tea cultivation Cement production Cement production Leasing Finance Leasing Finance Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary Tea cultivation Cement production Cement pro	
Rwenzori Tea Investments Ltd Uganda Ordinary Ordinary Tea cultivation Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary Ordinary Tea cultivation Office block developm Tenzania Ordinary Tenzania Tenzania Tenzania Ordinary Tenzania Tenzania Tenzania Ordinary Tenzania Tenzania Tenzania Tenzania Tenzania Ordinary Tenzania Te	
Rwenzori Courts Ltd Uganda Ordinary 74 Office block developm Chilanga Cement Ltd Zambia Ordinary 50 Cement production Mbeya Cement Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 51 Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 100 Leasing Finance Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 70 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Investment Fund Investment Fund Investment Co Ltd In	ivation
Chilanga Cement Ltd Zambia Ordinary \$ 50 Cement production Mbeya Cement Co Ltd Tanzania Ordinary 51 Cement production Industrial Credit Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 100 Leasing Finance Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 70 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	
Mbeya Cement Co Ltd Industrial Credit Co Ltd Invest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Investment Fund Investment Co Ltd Inve	•
Industrial Credit Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 100 Leasing Finance Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 70 Fish farming and proce Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 26 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	
Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 70 Fish farming and proce Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 26 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching the control of the cultivation and ranching the cultivat	
Lake Harvest Aquaculture (Pvt) Ltd Zambia Ordinary 26 Fish farming and proce (invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	
(invested by Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund) Mpongwe Development Co Ltd Zambia Ordinary 89 Coffee and arable cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	rocessing
Cultivation and produc Nanga Farms Ltd Zambia Ordinary 76 * Coffee, cotton and aral Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	rocessing
Ordinary 'B' 100 cultivation and ranching	duction
	arable
York Farms Lid Zambia Ordinary 'A' 48 Roses and baby vegeta	ching
	getable
Ordinary 'B' 51 farming	
Rusitu Valley Development Co (Pvt) Ltd Zimbabwe Ordinary 89 Coffee cultivation and farming	and dairy
SOUTH ASIA	
Nandi Investments Ltd (invested by CDC India Ordinary 100 Venture capital Financial Services (Mauritius) Ltd) Preference 100	
EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC	
MacGregor Property Pty Ltd Papua New Guinea Ordinary 78 Commercial developme	
Pacific Rim Plantations (Pty) Ltd Papua New Guinea Ordinary 'A' 56 Oil palm and cocoa	
Ordinary 'B' 56 cultivation and process	cessing
PNG Home Finance Co Ltd Papua New Guinea Ordinary 100 Mortgage finance	
PNG Venture Fund Pty Ltd Papua New Guinea Ordinary 100 Venture capital	4:1
Kolombangara Forest Products Ltd Solomon Islands Ordinary 'A' 51 * Tropical hardwood tim	ıımoer
Ordinary 'B' 84 production Solomon Islands Ordinary 68 Oil palm and cocoa cultivation and process	1

ASSOCIATES				
	COUNTRY OF	CLASS	PERCENTAGE HELD	
	INCORPORATION			
REGION/COMPANY	AND OPERATION	OF SHARE	BY CDC	PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
THE AMERICAS				
Aquacorporacion Internacional SA	Costa Rica	Ordinary	20	Fish farming and processing
St Lucia Electricity Services Ltd	St Lucia	Ordinary	45 *	Electricity generation transmission & distribution
AFRICA				
Mhlume (Swaziland) Sugar Co Ltd	Swaziland	Ordinary	50	Irrigated sugar cane
				cultivation and mill
EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC				
United Palm Oil Industry Public Co Ltd	Thailand	Ordinary +	6	Oil palm cultivation and
(invested by CDC (West Malaysia) Sdn Bhd)		Ordinary 4	36	processing

PARTNERSHIP INTEREST

AFRICA

Inyoni Yami Swaziland Irrigation Scheme

Swaziland

Partnership

50

Irrigated sugar cane and

citrus, ranching

Represents voting shares

♣ Denotes equity investments listed overseas

A full schedule of investments appears in the Portfolio Report on pages 69 to 77

4671241001

Pag Table: STATIN PPSysB

Unit/pag1

STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

1999 No.

OVERSEAS DEVELOPMENT AND CO-OPERATION

The Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (Appointed Day) Order 1999

Made - - - - 7 December 1999

The Secretary of State, having received notice that the registrar of companies in England and Wales is satisfied that the Corporation has discharged the duty under section 2(1) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999(a) and in exercise of the powers conferred on her by section 3(3) of that Act, hereby makes the following Order:

Citation

1. This Order may be cited as the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999 (Appointed Day) Order 1999.

Appointed Day

2. The day appointed for registration shall be 8th December 1999.

December 1999

Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State
Department for International Development

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR INTERNATIONAL

BAUSLOIMENT.

COMPANIES HOUSE

0140 08/12/99 4671241001

NU.003

26-11-99 03:13:28 PPSysB

Pag Table: STATIN

Unit: pag1

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not port of the Order)

This Order appoints 8th December 1999 as the day for registration pursuant to section 3(3) of the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1999. On the appointed day, the registrar of companies in England and Wales comes under a duty, by virtue of section 4 of that Act, to register the Commonwealth Development Corporation's memorandum and articles of association. On registration, pursuant to section 5 of that Act, the Companies Act 1985 (1985 c.6) and other legislation relating to companies will apply to the Commonwealth Development Corporation, with the modifications referred to in that section, and the Commonwealth Development Corporation Act 1978 (1978 c.2) shall cease to have effect, subject to the savings, etc. referred to in that section.